## **REVIEW ARTICLE**



# Mechanization and sustainable agri-food system transformation in the Global South. A review

Thomas Daum<sup>1</sup>

Accepted: 5 January 2023 / Published online: 25 January 2023 © The Author(s) 2023

# Abstract

There is an urgent need for agri-food system transformation to achieve global sustainability goals. Innovations can play a key role in this transformation but often come with both sustainability synergies and trade-offs. One such innovation is agricultural mechanization, which is spreading rapidly in parts of the Global South and is high on the policy agenda in others. The rapid spread of mechanization is fundamentally changing the character of agri-food systems in the Global South, with both positive and negative effects. However, while some of these effects have been well explored, no study so far has systematically reviewed the sustainability synergies and trade-offs associated with mechanization, undermining necessary accompanying research and policy efforts. This review provides an overview of the progress toward mechanization across the Global South, identifies drivers and barriers, assesses sustainability synergies and trade-offs, and discusses options to maximize sustainability outcomes. The review is the first to holistically assess the potentials and risks of agricultural mechanization for the sustainable transformation of agri-food systems in the Global South, taking into account all pillars of sustainability. The review suggests that agricultural mechanization is needed to make agri-food systems more sustainable concerning various economic and social aspects, such as labor productivity, poverty reduction, food security, and health and well-being. However, there are also sustainability risks concerning environmental aspects such as biodiversity loss and land degradation, and economic and social concerns related to lacking inclusiveness and growing inequalities, among others. A wide range of technological and institutional solutions is identified to harness the potential of agricultural mechanization for sustainable agri-food system transformation, while at the same time minimizing the risks. However, more efforts are needed to implement such solutions at scale and ensure that mechanization contributes to agri-food systems that respect all pillars of sustainability.

Keywords Technological change · Tractors · Agricultural development · Sustainable development · Sustainability studies

# Contents

- 1. Introduction
- 2. Key terms
- 3. State of mechanization in the Global South
  - 3.1 Asia
  - 3.2 Africa
  - 3.3 Latin America and the Caribbean
- 4. Drivers and barriers
  - 4.1 Land and labor endowments and farming system evolution
  - 4.2 Structural transformation, rural wages, and market developments

Thomas Daum thomas.daum@uni-hohenheim.de

 <sup>1</sup> Hans-Ruthenberg-Institute of Agricultural Sciences in the Tropics, University of Hohenheim, Wollgrasweg 43, 70599 Stuttgart, Germany

- 4.3 Technology costs, farm sizes, and agroecological conditions
- 4.4 Enabling environments
- 5. Sustainability synergies and trade-offs
  - 5.1 Economic dimension
    - 5.1.1 Labor productivity, labor use, and employment
    - 5.1.2 Yields, crop loss, and food safety
    - 5.1.3 Farmland expansion
    - 5.1.4 Income effects and economic spillovers
    - 5.1.5 Risks and resilience
  - 5.2 Environmental dimension
    - 5.2.1 Land-use changes, landscape changes, and impacts on biodiversity
    - 5.2.2 Soil compaction and erosion
    - 5.2.3 Fossil energy use, renewable energy, and water use
  - 5.3 Social dimension
    - 5.3.1 Food security
    - 5.3.2 Wellbeing and health



5.3.3 Equity

- 5.3.4 Gender
- 6. Innovations for smallholder mechanization6.1 Technological innovations6.2 Institutional innovations
- 7. Pathways towards sustainable transformation
  7.1 Addressing barriers by creating an enabling environment for agricultural mechanization
  7.2 Ensuring that mechanization contributes to sustainable
  - agri-food systems transformation

8. Conclusions

Acknowledgements and Declarations References

# 1 Introduction

Agricultural production has bound the majority of humanity to the land since the earliest times, occupying much of their physical and intellectual resources. Despite hard work, this type of life was often associated with hunger and poverty (Mazover and Roudart 2006). Agricultural history shows how humankind has constantly strived to reduce the toil of farming by developing ingenious tools and by harnessing the power of fire, wind, water, and animals. For example, Mesopotamia farmers used ox-drawn ards by around 4000 BC (Mazoyer and Roudart 2006) and water-powered mills emerged in China by around 1000 BC (Pingali 2007). Technological change has accelerated during the past two centuries with the emergence of steam plows and threshers and the rise of fossil energy-powered tractors (see also Fig. 1), harvesters, and processing machines, among others (Daum et al. 2018; Hurt 1982). Agricultural mechanization has enabled societies across the world to gradually decouple agricultural production from agricultural labor, freeing them from the heavy physical toil of farming.

But progress has not been even across the world. Northern America and Europe are fully mechanized and many countries in Asia and Latin America and the Caribbean made considerable progress (Diao et al. 2020). In Sub-Saharan Africa, despite signs of rapid mechanization in selected pockets, 80% of farmers are still believed to rely on manual labor (Daum and Birner 2020; Diao et al. 2020; FAO and AUC 2018). The unequal progress toward mechanization explains the dramatic differences in agricultural labor productivity across the world, which in turn helps in part to explain world income inequality (Gollin et al. 2014; Fuglie et al. 2019). The agricultural value-added per worker in Northern America is 66 times higher than that in Sub-Saharan Africa, 15 times higher than in Latina America and the Caribbean, and 10 times higher than in East Asia (World Bank 2022). While farmers in the USA obtain 1470 kg of maize per hour worked, Kenyan farmers obtain only 1.2 kg (Gollin 2019).





Fig. 1 Tractor in Zambia (Photo Credit: Daum).

There is a broad consensus that innovations are key to realizing more sustainable agri-food systems (e.g., Herrero et al. 2020; Webb et al. 2020). Agri-food system innovations are typically associated with a complex set of synergies and tradeoffs across the three-social, economic, and environmentalpillars of sustainability (e.g., Antle and Ray 2020). Proponents of mechanization typically highlight the potential of mechanization to improve social and economic aspects of agri-food systems, in particular, its potential to raise agricultural labor productivity, and subsequently, increase incomes, and reduce poverty (FAO and AUC 2018; Sims and Kienzle 2006). There are also strong arguments regarding its potential to reduce the heavy toil of farming (Daum and Birner 2021; FAO and AUC 2018), which will be exaggerated with climate change (Dasgupta et al. 2021), and which is often shouldered by unpaid family members, including women and children (Lowder et al. 2019; Takeshima and Vos 2022). But there are also concerns related to mechanization. One fear is that large and wealthy farms are more likely to afford the necessary machines and then grow at the expense of smallholder or tenant farmers (e.g., Pingali 2007). Another concern is that mechanization excludes women (e.g., Croppenstedt et al. 2013; Fischer et al. 2018; Theis et al. 2019). A long-standing concern is that mechanization causes rural unemployment (Binswanger and Donovan 1987). There are also concerns that mechanization can undermine environmental sustainability by contributing to deforestation, savannah conversion, farmland simplification, and land degradation (e.g., Daum et al. 2020; Daum and Birner 2020; Kansanga et al. 2019; Keller et al. 2019).

Understanding sustainability synergies *and* trade-offs is key to guiding and designing policy action that will harness the opportunities and mitigate the risks associated with mechanization and ensure it contributes to sustainable agri-food systems. This review, therefore, aims to contribute to a better understanding of the opportunities and risks related to agricultural mechanization and of its role in sustainable agri-food system transformation in the Global South. Based on these insights, a wide range of technological and institutional solutions to harness the potential of agricultural mechanization for sustainable agri-food system transformation, while at the same minimizing the risks, will be identified and discussed.

Section 2 will provide an overview of key terms related to agricultural mechanization. Section 3 will provide an overview of the trends of agricultural mechanization in the Global South. Section 4 discusses some major drivers and barriers to mechanization, which can help to explain different mechanization patterns across the Global South. Section 5 explores the opportunities and risks of agricultural mechanization for sustainable agri-food system transformation. Section 6 focuses on the role of technological and institutional innovations to make agricultural mechanization inclusive for smallholder farmers. Section 7 provides policy recommendations on how to create an enabling environment for agricultural mechanization and ensure it contributes to sustainable agri-food system transformation.

# 2 Key terms

2021).

Agricultural mechanization refers to the substitution of human labor with animal or mechanical power in the crop, livestock, aquaculture, and agroforestry value chains (Daum and Kirui 2021). Farm mechanization describes the substitution of human labor on the farm whereas agricultural mechanization spans the whole agricultural value chain (Daum and Kirui 2021; FAO and AUC 2018; see Fig. 2). Agricultural mechanization should not be equated with the use of tractors but tractors are a cornerstone of farm mechanization as they can pull and push implements such as plows, rippers, planters, sprayers, and power stationary machinery such as pumps, shellers, and threshers (Valle and Kienzle 2020). Agricultural mechanization does comprise the use of draught animal traction (such as oxen and donkeys), whereas agricultural motorization focuses on the use of mechanical power, which can be run with fossil or renewable energy (FAO and AUC 2018). There are many linkages between mechanization and irrigation. The mechanization of irrigation can help to harness the potential of irrigation, and, vice versa, irrigation can be an important catalyst for mechanization by enabling intensification, as further discussed below

Pingali et al. (1987) and Pingali (2007) make a strong case for distinguishing between the mechanization of powerintensive (requiring much energy) and control-intensive (requiring careful decision-making) activities (see Table 1). Power-intensive activities are typically mechanized first, while control-intensive activities are mechanized later (Pingali et al. 1987; Pingali 2007). This is because power-intensive activities are associated with a higher labor burden and because control-intensive activities require more expensive machinery (Binswanger and Donovan 1987). Table 1 also distinguishes between stationary and mobile operations. Setting up asset-sharing arrangements (e.g., cooperative ownership and service markets) tends to be associated with fewer challenges concerning stationary activities. The ability to share assets also depends on whether an activity is timebound (e.g., planting, harvesting of cereals) or allows more flexibility (e.g., milling).

# 3 State of mechanization in the Global South

There are large disparities regarding mechanization in the Global South. Latin America and the Caribbean have the highest rates of tractor use, followed by the Middle East and North Africa as well as Asia, which is catching up rapidly, while progress in Sub-Saharan Africa has been limited (see Fig. 3). As the following sections will show, mechanization





 Table 1
 Classification of agricultural activities by power and control intensity and degree of mobility. Based on Pingali (2007)

	Power-intensive	Control-intensive
Mobile	Tillage, harvesting cereals, trans- portation	Planting, weeding, pest control, harvesting, especially of specialty crops
Stationary	Pumping, thresh- ing, grinding, milling, wood cutting	Cleaning, winnowing, milking

trajectories within world regions such as Asia, Africa, and Latin America and the Caribbean can be diverse as geographical, biophysical, and socioeconomic characteristics are heterogeneous. Importantly, while the number of tractors per 1000 farm workers is often used as a proxy for overall mechanization since cross-country data are available, the underlying data are partially patchy and outdated. Moreover, the number of tractors per 1000 farm workers ignores the role of tractor sizes, service markets, animal traction, and other types of equipment. For example, mechanization appears larger in Asian countries when considering service markets, which allow the sharing of tractors among many farmers. Also, while there are large disparities regarding tractor use, some other types of equipment such as stationary machines (e.g., for milling) have spread more quickly and equitably across the Global South (Pingali 2007).

#### 3.1 Asia

Asia was the least mechanized in terms of tractors of all world regions in the 1960s (see Fig. 3). However, while Asian farmers used few tractors, their farming systems were already quite intensified and the use of animal traction was common for land preparation and irrigation (e.g., to drive Persian Wheels), which facilitated the rapid mechanization in the subsequent decades (Diao et al. 2020; Lawrence and Pearson 2002). Motorized mechanization accelerated first in response to agricultural intensification as part of the Green Revolution and later in response to rising rural wages due to structural transformation and urbanization (Diao et al. 2020; Pingali 2007). Power-intensive activities such as pumping, threshing, and milling were already motorized in many areas during the 1950s and 1960s (Pingali 2007). Tractors were first used mainly for power-intensive land preparation but later, labor shortages and rising rural wages have been driving the mechanization of control-intensive planting, pest control, harvesting, and processing (Diao et al. 2020). In Asia, the establishment of public irrigation infrastructure and the spread of private irrigation technologies played a key role in intensification, and subsequently, overall mechanization development (Cramb and Thepent 2020; Diao et al. 2020; Takeshima et al. 2020).

There are some regional disparities. Some countries witnessed the first waves of tractorization in the 1970s and 1980s (e.g., China, India, and Thailand), while others experienced it in the 1990s and the 2000s (e.g., Bangladesh) and the 2010s (e.g., Myanmar) (Belton et al. 2021; Diao et al. 2020). Bhattarai et al. (2020) estimate that today land preparation on up to 90% of the farmland in India is motorized. In rice production, the share of farmland prepared with machinery is above 85% in Bangladesh, China, Sri Lanka, and Myanmar (Abeyratne and Takeshima 2020; Ahmed and Takeshima 2020; Win et al. 2020; Zhang et al. 2017). In contrast, only around 23% of the farmers in mountainous Nepal use tractors and power tillers-but 46% do so in Nepal's less-sloping Terai zone (Takeshima and Justice 2020). Mechanization continues to be more limited regarding harvesting but combine harvesters are on the rise in some countries (Diao et al. 2020; Yang et al. 2013).





Farm mechanization is increasing despite small farm sizes, which are often perceived to be a constraint to mechanization, thanks to technological and institutional innovations (Bhattarai et al. 2020; Diao et al. 2020). While larger farmers generally had a head-start regarding mechanization, these innovations facilitated mechanization among smallholder farmers (Diao et al. 2020). Technological innovations include small four-wheel tractors and two-wheel tractors (Diao et al. 2020; Justice and Biggs 2020). Two-wheel tractors (power tillers) are more common in wetland rice production systems and four-wheel tractors dominate in production drylands and non-rice production systems (Pingali 2007). In many ricegrowing areas in Asia, multifunctional two-wheel tractors were key to power irrigation pumps, which led to a virtuous cycle between intensification and mechanization (Cramb and Thepent 2020; Takeshima et al. 2020). Sophisticated marketled service markets have evolved in various Asian countries (Diao et al. 2020; Justice and Biggs 2020). In Bangladesh, only 4% of farm households own tractors but 89% hire them, of which 80% own less than 1 ha of land (Diao et al. 2020). In China, migratory service providers are traveling across agroecological zones with fleets of combined harvesters (Yang et al. 2013; Zhang et al. 2017) and service providers using drones for pest control are on the rise (Iost-Filho et al. 2020).

Various Asian countries have built a strong local manufacturing sector, producing locally adapted and affordable machinery, ranging from small-scale equipment such as twowheeled tractors (including small mini and power tillers), shallow tubewells, pumps, threshers, and grain mills to fourwheeled tractors (Belton et al. 2021; Cramb and Thepent 2020; Justice and Biggs 2020). India has become the world's largest producer of tractors, with around 600,000 sold yearly (Bhattarai et al. 2020). China is taking a pioneering role in the use of agricultural drones (Diao et al. 2020). Mechanization in Asia countries was mainly driven by private markets (Diao et al. 2014, 2020). Where governments played a larger role, they typically assisted this process by ensuring a conducive business environment, for example, by investing in knowledge and skills development, improving trade and customs policies and regulations, facilitating access to finance, organizing land reforms, setting up public irrigation systems, and investing in rural infrastructure (Cramb and Thepent 2020; Diao et al. 2020).

# 3.2 Africa

African agri-food systems are the least mechanized of all world regions. Around 10% of farmers are estimated to use tractors (FAO and AUC 2018), which is usually the first farming step to become mechanized (Binswanger 1986). There were many efforts to promote mechanization in newly independent African countries in the 1960s and 1970s by providing subsidized machinery to farmers, running state and block farms, and setting up public hire centers, often with support from donors (FAO and AUC 2018; Pingali 2007). Such efforts have proven costly and mostly failed due to governance challenges such as a lack of investments in knowledge and skills development, low access to fuel and spare parts, and rent-seeking and corruption (FAO and AUC 2018; Pingali 2007). Another reason is that such efforts artificially pushed farm mechanization despite a lack of real demand for mechanization due to a lack of farming system evolution and structural transformation (Diao et al. 2020; Pingali et al. 1987; Pingali 2007; see also Section 4).

Farming systems are now evolving and rural wages are rising in some areas, leading to mechanization in selected pockets (Daum and Birner 2020; Diao et al. 2020; FAO and AUC 2018). Tractors are in particular concentrated in Northern Africa and South Africa (Mrema et al. 2008). Kirui (2019) estimated the share of tractor use to be as high as 57% in Egypt and 70% in South Africa. Some Sub-Saharan African countries have also seen progress toward mechanization. In Ghana, up to one-third of farm households use tractors for some farm operations (especially for land preparation), with mechanization levels being as low as 2% in parts of the forest zone and as high as 88% in the savannah zones (Diao et al. 2020). In Tanzania, up to 14% of the farmland is cultivated with tractors, with mechanization levels being highest in large-scale commercial farming areas (Mrema et al. 2020). In Nigeria, 7% of farmers use tractors (Takeshima and Lawal 2020). In most other African countries, the number of tractors is "extremely low" (Mrema et al. 2008). Kirui (2019) estimated the share of tractor use among farmers to be below 1% in Cameroon, Niger, and Senegal. In Ethiopia, around 1% of farm plots are cultivated with tractors, mainly in easy-tomechanize wheat-barley systems, which are also dominated by large farms and have witnessed the emergence of service markets for wheat harvesting (Berhane et al. 2020).

While African farming systems are characterized by limited mechanization in the form of tractors and power tillers, animal traction is widespread in some countries and some stationary activities are typically mechanized. In Ethiopia, up to 80% of farmers use animal traction for land preparation (Berhane et al. 2020). In Tanzania and Nigeria, this share stands at around 25% (Mrema et al. 2020; Takeshima and Lawal 2020). On average, 15% of farmers are estimated to use animals for land preparation in Africa (FAO and AUC 2018). While tractor use has remained limited, Pingali (2007) provides historical accounts showing that some stationary activities have been mechanized for a long time; for example, mechanical mills for power-intensive milling have been popular for many decades. Unlike in Asia where 37% of the land is irrigated, only 6% of the farmland is irrigated in Africa, mainly in Northern Africa, Sudan, and South Africa, and only a fraction of this land is irrigated with



modern technologies (Malabo Montpellier Panel 2018). In many parts, irrigation is held back by a lack of public investments in irrigation infrastructure and a lack of affordable small-scale irrigation technologies, among others (Diao and Takeshima 2020; Malabo Montpellier Panel 2018). Diao et al. (2020) suggest that African agricultural mechanization is no longer held back by a lack of demand but rather by supply-side constraints (e.g., lack of knowledge and skills, trade regulations, custom policies, and poor infrastructure, among others). It is thus problematic that many governments focus less on addressing such supply-side constraints by creating a conducive environment for market-led mechanization and more on efforts to directly promote mechanization (e.g., by pursuing large-scale programs to import machinery and distribute it at highly subsidized rates to farmers, by setting up public mechanization hire schemes and planning national tractor assembly plants) (Daum and Birner 2020). This may be partially due to political economy problems such as the desire to create media attention and enable rent-seeking, clientelism, and political targeting (Benin 2015; Cabral 2019; Daum and Birner 2017; Diao et al. 2014). Such efforts are high on the agenda in countries such as Benin, Burkina Faso, Ghana, Kenya, Mali, Mozambique, Nigeria, and Zimbabwe, among many others, and again show signs of failure (Daum and Birner 2017, 2020; Diao et al. 2014).

There is also a growth of private-sector channels supplying machinery, including both used and new machinery, and including efforts from global machinery manufacturers such as AGCO, John Deere, and Mahindra, as well as smaller companies from the Global South (Daum and Birner 2020). Across Africa, local manufacturing sectors are increasingly widespread for simple types of equipment. Private mechanization service markets are also growing in several countries (Berhane et al. 2020; Daum and Birner 2020; Diao et al. 2014).

# 3.3 Latin America and the Caribbean

Latin America has the highest levels of farm mechanization of the three world regions covered in the paper, although most countries fall behind the degree of mechanization witnessed in the Global North (Elverdin et al. 2018). In the 1960s, there were 5 tractors per 1000 farm workers. In the 2010s, this ratio increased to around 65 tractors (see Fig. 3). This represents, on average, a 4% increase in the number of tractors annually between 1950 and 2008, with the most rapid growth during the 1950s and 1960s (Martín-Retortillo et al. 2019). In the last few decades, annual growth rates have fallen, suggesting a saturation and reflecting a shift toward fewer but larger tractors in some countries (Martín-Retortillo et al. 2019).



Similar to other world regions, these continent-wide numbers mask large heterogeneity between countries. The share of tractors per 1000 farm workers is highest in Uruguay and Argentina-followed by Brazil, Venezuela, Chile, Panama, and Mexico (Elverdin et al. 2018; Martín-Retortillo et al. 2019). The country that witnessed the most rapid mechanization progress was Brazil, with an annual growth rate of 7% (Martín-Retortillo et al. 2019). In contrast, countries such as Bolivia, El Salvador, Peru, and Colombia, among others, all started at a low level and witnessed limited progress concerning tractorization (Elverdin et al. 2018; Martín-Retortillo et al. 2019). In general, Latin America and Caribbean countries are characterized by the coexistence of large-scale, highly mechanized farms and smallholder farms, which are often not as mechanized, especially in remote and hilly areas (Antle and Ray 2020; da Silva et al. 2018; ECLAC et al. 2017; Elverdin et al. 2018).

Although mechanization in Latin America and the Caribbean was largely driven by private actors, governments have played a key role in creating an enabling environment for mechanization, for example, with public programs to facilitate access to credit at low-interest rates and with tax exemptions, in various countries such as Argentina, Costa Rica, Ecuador, and Peru (ECLAC et al. 2017; Elverdin et al. 2018). Moreover, several countries have exempted agricultural machinery from import duties, for example, Peru (ECLAC et al. 2017). However, in many countries, especially where mechanization levels are more limited, there appears to be a lack of public sector support to create an enabling environment concerning knowledge and skills development, access to finance, and rural infrastructure, among others (Elverdin et al. 2018). In Brazil and Mexico-and to some degree, Argentinastrong agricultural machinery manufacturing sectors have emerged that also export both to the region and globally, including large machinery such as tractors and harvesters (Elverdin et al. 2018). In some countries especially such as Argentina, agricultural mechanization service markets play a great role in smallholder mechanization (Elverdin et al. 2018).

# 4 Drivers and barriers

Mechanization patterns are affected by both drivers and barriers on the demand and supply sides. Drivers include changing land and labor endowments and farming system evolution (see Section 4.1) and structural transformation, rising wages, and market developments (see Section 4.2). Potential barriers relate to technology costs, small and fragmented fields, geographic and bio-physical conditions (see Section 4.3), and a lack of enabling environments (and Section 4.4).

# 4.1 Land and labor endowments and farming system evolution

Different theories help to explain agricultural mechanization patterns. A prominent theory is that of induced agricultural innovation, which focuses on land and labor endowments (Hayami and Ruttan 1970; Ruttan 1977) as well as the theory of farming system evolution (Boserup 1965; Ruthenberg 1980). While each of these theories has its limitations, taken together, they constitute a powerful analytical toolbox for explaining mechanization trajectories (Diao et al. 2020). The theory of induced agricultural innovations suggests that innovations are driven by changes in the relative endowments and prices of production factors such as land and labor (Hayami and Ruttan 1970). Private actors develop and adopt technologies that help to substitute "relatively scarce and hence expensive factors of production" (Ruttan 1977, pp. 204-205). Public sectors facilitate this process with accompanying institutions (Ruttan and Hayami 1984). In labor-scarce areas, farmers first adopt labor-saving technologies (e.g., mechanization, and herbicides). In land-scarce areas, farmers first adapt land-saving technologies (e.g., improved seeds, fertilizer, and irrigation, which facilitates multiple cropping and higher yields). This theory explains the earlier adoption of land-saving technologies in highly populated Asia as compared to Africa and the high degree of mechanization in Latin American countries with larger farm sizes. However, it fails to explain the high degree of mechanization in labor-abundant, land-scarce Asia as compared to historically labor-scarce, land-abundant Africa (Diao et al. 2020; Elverdin et al. 2018; Pingali 2007).

The theory of farming system evolution has been developed by Boserup (1965) and Ruthenberg (1980) and adopted for mechanization by Pingali et al. (1987). According to this theory, in land-abundant, labor-scarce areas, the rational choice of farmers is not to mechanize but to practice extensive shifting cultivation, which is associated with low labor requirements (Boserup 1965; Diao et al. 2020; Ruthenberg 1980; van Vliet et al. 2012). This can be different in areas with low population densities but strong market demand where farmers have the incentive to produce surplus food (Nin-Pratt et al. 2014). Increasing population densities cause a transition toward annual and multiple cropping (Boserup 1965; Ruthenberg 1980). This intensification is associated with higher labor requirements and triggers the mechanization of the most labor-intensive farming steps even where rural wages are still low (Diao et al. 2020; Pingali et al. 1987). Farmers tend to first mechanize using animal traction-unless this option is restricted by animal diseases such as trypanosomosis vectored by tse tse flies (Alsan 2015)-and later tractors when animal traction becomes exceedingly

expensive due to pressure to convert grazing land to cropland (Pingali et al. 1987; Ruthenberg 1980).

Farming system evolution helps to explain continental differences. Densely populated Asian countries witnessed high levels of farming system evolution in the 1960s, a major pre-condition for rapid mechanization in the following decades, which was further pushed due to intensification as part of the Green Revolution (Diao et al. 2020; Pingali 2007). In Africa, shifting cultivation was still widespread in the 1970s (Heinimann et al. 2017) and farmers faced few market incentives to intensify and mechanize (Diao et al. 2020; Pingali 2007). Mechanization was only widespread on large commercial farms, a legacy of colonization, and as part of state-supported block farm and tractor hire schemes, many of which soon collapsed (Pingali et al. 1987; Pingali 2007). In the last few decades, cropping intensities have been increasing in all but a few countries (Binswanger-Mkhize and Savastano 2017; Diao et al. 2020; Heinimann et al. 2017; Sebastian 2014; van Vliet et al. 2012). The shift toward permanent cropping is slowly increasing the demand for mechanization; however, farming system evolution is only "a necessary but not sufficient condition" for mechanization (Diao et al. 2014).

# 4.2 Structural transformation, rural wages, and market developments

Mechanization patterns are also explained by structural transformation, rural wages, and market developments. During structural transformation, better-paying industries and service sectors pull labor out of agriculture, leading to labor shortages, rising wages, and opportunity costs (Diao et al. 2014, 2020). Structural transformation is typically associated with both a falling share of employment in agriculture and with urbanization as industries and service sectors are more likely to be located in urban areas.

Many Asian countries witnessed structural transformation, urbanization, and rapidly rising rural wages in the last decades (see also Fig. 4). For example, real rural wages tripled between 1992 and 2008 in Vietnam (Takeshima et al. 2020) and rose by 42% between 2011 and 2016 in Myanmar (Win et al. 2020). In China, farm wages grew between 8 and 10% annually from 1997 to 2016, leading to a sharp rise in mechanization and a halving of the labor days per ha (Wang et al. 2016). In Nepal, the wage of rural laborers for plowing rose by 86% for men and 195% for women between 1995 and 2010 (Takeshima and Justice 2020). While farming system evolution drives the mechanization of power-intensive farming steps even where wages are low, structural transformation and rising rural wages tend to drive the mechanization of controlintensive farming steps (Binswanger 1986; Pingali et al. 1987; Pingali 2007). In many Asian countries, this is now



**Fig. 4** Share of agricultural employment (**A**) and share of the population residing in urban areas (**B**) in different world regions (World Bank 2022).



leading to full mechanization, as exemplified by the rise of combined harvesters (Diao et al. 2020).

In Africa, labor is moving out of agriculture more slowly and urbanization rates are increasing less quickly than in other world regions (see Fig. 4). However, there are also growing rural labor constraints in several countries (Diao et al. 2020). In Ethiopia, structural transformation has caused a rise in the real wages of unskilled laborers in rural areas by more than 50% in the last two decades (Berhane et al. 2020). In Ghana, new opportunities in the nonfarm sectors have led to rising rural wages, causing labor costs to now account for 45% of the overall input costs of farmers (Diao et al. 2014). In Africa, relatively limited structural transformation means that, on average, mechanization progress has been slow and focused on the most power-intensive activities (Daum and Birner 2020; Diao et al. 2020). Labor availability for agriculture can also be affected by the rising share of children going to school or by health problems and death (e.g., from HIV/AIDS), among others (Bishop-Sambrook 2005; Jayne et al. 2010).

Farmers face incentives to intensify and then mechanize where there is a market for their produce. Across the world, population growth and rising prosperity are leading to growing food demand. Moreover, rising urban prosperity is leading to changing food demand patterns, e.g., toward "easy-to-cook" cereals such as wheat and maize, which are more labor-intensive (but also easier to mechanize) than roots and tubers (Diao et al. 2020; Tschirley et al. 2015). All of this incentivizes farmers to intensify production and generates the incentives and purchasing power needed to adopt labor-saving mechanization. This can be observed in many Asian countries (Diao et al. 2020). In many African countries, farmers do not experience the same opportunities as they are disconnected from urban markets due to a lack of market infrastructure and high transaction costs (De Brauw and Bulte 2021; Diao et al. 2020; Jayne et al. 2010).



# 4.3 Technology costs, farm sizes, and agroecological conditions

Mechanization patterns are also shaped by endogenous factors such as technology costs. Falling technology costs have greatly contributed to mechanization in Asia (Diao et al. 2020). In Africa, machinery was historically imported from Europe and North America, and technology costs were high. Technology costs are now falling with growing competition from manufacturers from Asia (especially India and China) and South America (especially Brazil) who offer cheaper and smaller-sized machinery (FAO and AUC 2018). But technology costs (machinery, spare parts) are still higher as compared to Asia, partially due to disadvantageous import policies (FAO and AUC 2018). Poor infrastructure and high transaction costs can also raise the prices for mechanization services (e.g., for land preparation). In many African countries, mechanization services are expensive-costing as much per hectare as the equivalent of 500 kg of maize (FAO and AUC 2018).

Many agricultural innovations are first adopted by large farms with better tenure security, access to credits, extension, markets, and the ability to take risks, among others (Feder et al. 1985). In the case of mechanization, large farms have further adoption advantages because unlike other agricultural innovations such as seeds and fertilizer, mechanization technologies are indivisible and associated with the economics of scales, disadvantaging smallholder farmers who operate on small and fragmented plots (Antle and Ray 2020). It is therefore not surprising that there is both historic (e.g., Binswanger and Donovan 1987) and contemporary (e.g., Berhane et al. 2020; Elverdin et al. 2018; Takeshima 2017) evidence that large farms often mechanize earlier than small farms. However, small farm sizes are not necessarily an adoption barrier where technological and institutional solutions for smallholder mechanization evolve. In Asia, mechanization rates are high despite small farm sizes thanks to smaller-sized machinery and strong service markets (Bhattarai et al. 2020; Cramb and Thepent 2020; Diao et al. 2020). Such mechanization service markets are on the rise across various African countries (Adu-Baffour et al. 2019; Berhane et al. 2020; Cabral and Amanor 2022; Diao et al. 2014; Jayne et al. 2019; Takeshima and Lawal 2020; Van Loon et al. 2020). In Africa, service markets are partly driven by a "rise of medium-scale farmers" (Jayne et al. 2019) who can afford to buy machinery but still have to provide services to other farmers to ensure high utilization rates.

Geographic and bio-physical factors can also shape mechanization patterns (Daum et al. 2022a, b, c). Mechanization is easier on flat terrains, as sloped and hilly land makes machinery more difficult to operate and creates a risk of overturning. In Nepal, mechanization levels are almost twice as high in the flat Terai zone as compared to mountainous areas, as mentioned above. In Ethiopia, mechanization levels are also higher in the flat lowlands (Berhane et al. 2020). Mechanization service markets are more difficult to set up in semi-arid areas with short farming seasons (Diao et al. 2014). Mechanization can also be influenced by soil types and soil workability constraints (Diao et al. 2020). For example, soils with greater bulk densities tend to require more farm power (Binswanger and Donovan 1987), unless farmers use no-till land preparation techniques. The high prevalence of trees or stumps can also prevent mechanization (Daum and Birner 2017). Lastly, crop types matter. In Latin America and the Caribbean and Asia, easy-to-mechanize cereal crops such as wheat and maize are dominating agricultural production (FAO and AUC 2018). In Africa, mechanization levels are higher in the cereal-based farming systems of Eastern and Southern Africa (FAO and AUC 2018). Roots and tubers, which are widespread in Western and Central Africa, have received much less attention from global machinery manufacturers, partly due to different mechanization needs and partly due to the limited market size. Tree-based cropping systems are also difficult to mechanize (Cramb and Thepent 2020; Pingali et al. 1987). The demand and scope for irrigation technologies depend on rainfall patterns and water availability. In some world regions, in particular in Central Africa, animal traction never evolved due to a high prevalence of animal disease (Alsan 2015; Mrema et al. 2020; Pingali et al. 1987).

#### 4.4 Enabling environments

Agricultural mechanization technologies are embodied in private goods and as such private markets have a strong incentive to provide mechanization where there is demand (Sunding and Zilberman 2001). Mechanization has been driven by private markets in Latin America, the Caribbean, and Asia (see Section 3). In Africa, private markets are also emerging in some countries; however, many governments aim to bypass markets and pursue public mechanization programs (Daum and Birner 2020; Diao et al. 2020). Such efforts have been typically short-lived due to a lack of economic demand, governance challenges, and struggles to come up with a "self-sustaining system" for the supply of tractors, spare parts, and repairs (AUC and FAO 2019; Daum and Birner 2017; Pingali et al. 1987; Pingali 2007). Public programs are likely to fail where private markets are missing due to a lack of demand and can crowd out private actors (Daum and Birner 2020; Pingali 2007). However, markets can also be undermined by market failures and governments can have a key role to support markets (Daum and Birner 2017; Diao et al. 2020). Governments played a key role in supporting private sector mechanization in Northern America and Europe (Daum et al. 2018) and Asia (Belton et al. 2020; Diao et al. 2014, 2020). Diao et al. (2020) have argued that mechanization progress has been more rapid in Asia as compared to Africa as governments have avoided supplyside constraints to mechanization, which can be caused by insubstantial or improper government action, such as stateled programs crowding out private investments.

# 5 Sustainability synergies and trade-offs

Agri-food system innovations are typically associated with a complex set of synergies and trade-offs across the three pillars of sustainability (Antle and Ray 2020). Agricultural mechanization is no exception and comes with both opportunities and risks for sustainable agri-food system transformation, including regarding economic (see Section 5.1), environmental (see Section 5.2), and social (see Section 5.3) aspects. The major potential sustainability synergies and trade-offs identified in this review are depicted in Fig. 5. As will be shown, and as remarked by Ströh de Martínez et al. (2016), mechanization per se is a neutral process and its effects depend highly on the context (bio-physical, geopolitical, socio-economic, and cultural factors) and accompanying practices, policies, and investments.

#### 5.1 Economic dimension

#### 5.1.1 Labor productivity, labor use, and employment

Substituting human power with animal power or mechanical power can greatly enhance agricultural labor productivity (Binswanger 1986; Diao et al. 2020; Hayami and Ruttan 1970; Sims and Kienzle 2006). Labor productivity describes the output per unit of labor input. Mechanization affects the labor inputs but can also affect outputs (see below). Studies on changes in land and labor productivity across the world during the past decades reveal strong similarities between agricultural labor productivity and the mechanization patterns described in Section 3 (see e.g., Fuglie et al. 2019).



**Fig. 5** Synergies and trade-offs of agricultural mechanization regarding the three pillars of sustainability (economic, social, and environmental). Note: Fig. 5 shows that synergies and trade-offs depend on both context (bio-physical, geopolitical, socio-economic, and cultural factors) and accompanying practices, policies, and investments.



#### Sustainability synergies and trade-offs of agricultural mechanization

T. Daum

In a review of labor use effects of tractors, Pingali et al. (1987) reported that 22 of 24 studies have found a reduction in labor once tractors were used rather than draught animals-with 12 studies reporting labor reductions above 50%. Sims and Kienzle (2016) show that primary tillage using manual tools requires around 500 labor hours per hectare as compared to only 60 h using animal traction and 1 to 2 h using tractors. In a recent study in Ethiopia, tractor-using households used less than half the labor per ha as non-tractor-using households (Berhane et al. 2020). In a study in Zambia, farm families with mechanized land preparation used 645 labor hours per hectare of maize on average compared to 1133 among non-mechanized households (Adu-Baffour et al. 2019). Such households achieved twice the gross margin per hour of farm labor (Adu-Baffour et al. 2019). Processing, preserving, storage, and transportation technologies can equally raise labor productivity (Daum and Kirui 2021). Moreover, motorized irrigation (pumps) can significantly help farm households to save time and labor (Malabo Montpellier Panel 2018). However, while mechanization raises labor productivity, the overall labor input can decline, stagnate, or increase. In the Zambian study above, labor input per hectare declined but the overall labor input per farm declined only marginally since the household achieved higher yields and expanded farmland, both of which increased labor demand during subsequent farming steps. Similarly, in a study in Côte d'Ivoire, tractor use led to higher labor productivity and labor input per hectare (Mano et al. 2020).

There are concerns that mechanization leads to unemployment, especially in countries that are perceived to have surplus labor (Binswanger and Donovan 1987; Daum and Birner 2020; Pingali 2007). Theoretical and empirical evidence suggests that unemployment effects are complex depending on the farm steps being mechanized, secondround effects on yields and farmland expansion, the former

source of labor, and non-farm employment opportunities, among others (Binswanger 1986; Daum and Birner 2020; Pingali 2007). In the following points, some typical scenarios are illustrated:

Accompanying practices, policies, and investments

- Increasing labor input, increasing employment: As shown above, mechanization can lead to an overall increase in labor input. Mechanization is often adopted in a sequential process, starting with power-intensive operations such as land preparation. Labor demand may then increase for not yet mechanized activities such as weeding and harvesting as farmers expand the area under cultivation or intensify and raise yields (Binswanger 1986; Pingali 2007). In India, Rajkhowa and Kubik (2021) found that the use of tractors and draft animals increased hired labor use by 12% due to area expansion and higher input use. Similar second-round effects have been observed in Botswana (Panin 1995), Ghana (Benin 2015; Cossar 2019; Kirui 2019), Niger, Zimbabwe (Kirui 2019), and Zambia (Adu-Baffour et al. 2019). Pumps for irrigation also often raise the demand for labor because cropping intensities and yields increase (Binswanger 1986; Pingali 2007).
- Declining labor input, no unemployment: Even where mechanization leads to an overall reduction in labor inputs, this does not necessarily cause unemployment, for example when mechanization is a response to structural transformation, during which people leave farming to seek more attractive alternative employment opportunities (Binswanger 1986; Pingali 2007) or when mechanization replaces unpaid family work, including from women and children (Adu-Baffour et al. 2019; Daum and Birner 2020; Pingali 2007).
- *Declining labor input, and rising unemployment*: However, there are also cases where mechanization can lead to unemployment. This can be the case where markets are

Page 11 of 26 16

distorted, for example, when mechanization is artificially pushed by large subsidies in areas without labor shortages, rising wages, and alternative employment opportunities (Binswanger 1986; Pingali 2007).

Mechanization can also lead to employment effects beyond the farm. For example, farm mechanization may affect employment opportunities down the value chain when it affects overall production volumes (through effects on yields and farmland area). In addition, there can be spillover effects from prospering farmers to the wider rural and urban economy via forward and backward linkages.

#### 5.1.2 Yields, crop loss, and food safety

Agricultural mechanization is often viewed as a technology to "save" labor, with limited effects on land productivity (Binswanger 1986). Where land is available and cheap, using tractors to cultivate more land rather than raising yields is often the rational choice of farmers (e.g., Baudron et al. 2012; Berhane et al. 2020; Bishop-Sambrook 2005; Houssou and Chapoto 2015; Nin-Pratt and McBride 2014). There is also some evidence that replacing draught animals with tractors has limited yield effects (Bhattarai et al. 2020; Pingali 2007). However, it is increasingly acknowledged that mechanization can raise land productivity where it addresses labor bottlenecks, improves agricultural practices (e.g., by enabling better seed placement and higher fertilizer use efficiency), increases cropping frequencies, triggers the adoption of yield-increasing technologies, and reduces crop damages and losses:

- Addressing labor bottlenecks and shortages: There is growing evidence regarding how labor bottlenecks and shortages undermine timely and careful seedbed preparation and crop management and hence yields. Seasonal labor bottlenecks and shortages have always been a feature of rainfed agriculture in arid and semi-humid areas where untimely operations can have large yield effects (Ruthenberg 1980). Baudron et al. (2015) show that delaying planting reduces yields by up to 1% per day. In Ethiopia, labor constraints are responsible for up to 50% of yield gaps (Silva et al. 2019). Baudron et al. (2019a, b) found that a lack of farm power is a key factor explaining yield gaps in Eastern and Southern Africa.
- Increasing cropping frequencies and adoption of yieldincreasing technologies: In many parts of the world, mechanization in the form of tractors and pumps for irrigation has helped farmers significantly increase cropping intensity (Diao et al. 2020; Pingali 2007; Pinstrup-Andersen and Hazell 1985; Singh 2001; Tetlay et al. 1990; Verma 2006). Mechanization can also affect the adoption of yield-increasing technologies such as improved seeds, fertilizer, and pesticides (Bhattarai

et al. 2020; Diao et al. 2020; Ma et al. 2018; Mano et al. 2020: Nin-Pratt and McBride 2014: Takeshima and Lawal 2020). Some forms of mechanization are also primarily adopted to raise or safeguard yields. Irrigation can increase or stabilize yields where rains are unpredictable and droughts are common (Malabo Montpellier Panel 2018; Pingali 2007). Precision irrigation can increase both yields and water use efficiency (Malabo Montpellier Panel 2018; Parthasarathi et al. 2018; Zhang et al. 2021). In Asia, irrigation played a key role in agricultural intensification (Diao et al. 2020). For example, in Thailand, public and private investments in irrigation enabled a shift to double cropping, which was a key "impetus for mechanization" (Cramb and Thepent 2020). In Nigeria, there is evidence that mechanization levels are higher on farms with higher production nearby formal irrigation facilities (Takeshima and Lawal 2020). Across Africa, it is estimated that small- and large-scale irrigation could raise agricultural production by 50% (You et al. 2011), although irrigation potentials are not equally distributed across the continent and are lower than those in Asia (Diao et al. 2020; Malabo Montpellier Panel 2018).

• *Reducing crop damages and losses*: In some cases, mechanization can reduce crop damages and losses, effectively increasing the output per unit of land (Daum and Kirui 2021; Elverdin et al. 2018). A study in Kenya found that 95% of potato damage and losses were attributed to a lack of harvesting technology (Breuer et al. 2015). In India, Bhattarai et al. (2020) found that combined harvesters for harvesting and threshing reduced crop damage and loss of rice and therefore raised yields by 24%. In Ethiopia, combined harvesters increase yields by around 20% as harvesting and threshing are otherwise constrained by a lack of labor and the use of rudimentary tools (Berhane 2020).

Mechanization can also help to reduce post-harvest food losses and contribute to food safety. Preservation and storage technologies (e.g., dryers, and cold storage) can considerably reduce food losses and enhance food safety (Salvatierra-Rojas et al. 2017). Processing technologies can also reduce food losses (Elverdin et al. 2018). In Africa, a lack of processing technologies has been estimated to cause an annual loss of one million tonnes of rice (Malabo Montpellier Panel 2018). Transportation technologies (e.g., trucks, cars, motorbikes) can also reduce food losses. Technologies for preservation and storage, processing, and transportation are particularly useful regarding perishable food such as fish, fruits, vegetables, meat, and dairy products (Daum and Kirui 2021). A lack of technologies to reduce post-harvest losses can also affect agricultural production indirectly by discouraging farmers to produce surplus food for markets in the first place (Daum and Kirui 2021).



#### 5.1.3 Farmland expansion

Using manual labor constrains how much land farm households can cultivate and how much produce they can handle (Sims and Kienzle 2016). Mechanization can help households to overcome labor bottlenecks and shortages and expand the area under cultivation where extra land is available and affordable, as is the case in several land-abundant regions across the Global South. In Nigeria, Takeshima and Lawal (2020) found that tractors enabled farmers to expand area cultivation by 0.4 ha. In Ghana, Houssou and Chapoto (2014) found that each additional hectare plowed using tractors or draft animals is associated with an increase in land cultivated by 14% and 13%, respectively. Also in Ghana, Kansanga et al. (2018a) found that mechanization allowed smallholder farmers to double farm sizes within 10 years (from around 1 to 2 ha). Mechanization has also affected land expansion in Indonesia (Yamauchi 2016) and Brazil (de Oliveira et al. 2017). For the respective households, farmland expansion is beneficial. In Zambia, tractor-using households cultivated double the amount of land and achieved twice the income of non-mechanized farmers (Adu-Baffour et al. 2019). Farmland expansion effects are limited where "pristine" land is either not available or well protected and where larger farms cannot grow at the expense of smaller farms as their land rights are well established. Dummet and Blundell (2021) show that more than 2/3 of agricultural expansion in tropical forests is illegal. Some forms of mechanization could-in principle-reduce farmland requirements as they increase land productivity and reduce food loss, as discussed before, a pattern that may, however, only evolve with parallel set-aside programs.

#### 5.1.4 Income effects and economic spillovers

Farm households typically aim to maximize real net incomes, among other goals. Mechanization can help farmers to increase labor productivity, a key determinant of income (Binswanger 1986; Diao et al. 2020; Fuglie et al. 2019; Hayami and Ruttan 1970). Mechanization can affect labor productivity if it enables yield growth, area expansion, and value addition, and/or if it decreases labor inputs and costs. In a study in Zambia, mechanized households obtained twice the incomes compared to non-mechanized farmers after controlling for covariates (Adu-Baffour et al. 2019). In a study in Nigeria, tractor use raised real incomes by 13% (Takeshima and Lawal 2020). Rising agricultural labor productivity often enables households to allocate time away from agriculture and pursue off-farm work (Daum et al. 2021a; Kansanga et al. 2020; Ma et al. 2018; Theis et al. 2019). Pingali (2007) argues that "poor households benefit the most since the released labor can be reallocated for other income-earning activities or leisure" (p. 2800).



Rising farm incomes can lead to spill-over effects from the now more prosperous farmers to the wider rural and urban economy (Christiaensen et al. 2011; Haggblade et al. 2010).

#### 5.1.5 Risks and resilience

Mechanization can increase the resilience of farm households to some types of risks; however, it can also create new vulnerabilities. Mechanization can increase the resilience to health shocks affecting household labor or hired labor, which can severely disrupt agricultural production, with effects on food security and poverty, in particular in already poor households (Jayne et al. 2010). Irrigation technologies increase resilience to climatic shocks, which will become more likely and severe with climate change (Malabo Montpellier Panel 2018). Climate resilience can also be increased as mechanization allows farmers to complete farming activities more quickly and respond more flexibility to changing weather patterns (Elverdin et al. 2018). Preservation, processing, and storage technologies increase the resilience to food supply and demand disruptions (Huss et al. 2021) and the contamination of harvested food (Salvatierra-Rojas et al. 2017). Where mechanization leads to higher incomes, this increases the resilience to all types of shocks.

But mechanization may also create new vulnerabilities. Machines can break down or service providers may arrive late or not at all, which can heavily affect timely production and yields (Daum and Birner 2017). This risk can be especially large where service providers yield more market power than farmers (Daum and Birner 2017; Daum et al. 2020). Mechanization may also create vulnerabilities to shocks from the energy sector (fuel and electricity) (Daum and Birner 2017; Elverdin et al. 2018). Mechanization often leads to more specialization and less farm diversification, which can reduce resilience (Antle and Ray 2020; Kansanga et al. 2018a). Lastly, the often higher production costs associated with mechanized farming can raise the overall financial risks, as reported by farmers in four African countries (Daum et al. 2020).

#### 5.2 Environmental dimension

# 5.2.1 Land-use changes, landscape changes, and impacts on biodiversity

Agricultural land-use changes are a major source of anthropogenic greenhouse gases and drivers of terrestrial biodiversity loss (Crippa et al. 2021; Zabel et al. 2019). Mechanization can both reduce and contribute to such land-use changes. As shown above, mechanization can contribute to raising land productivity in many scenarios, reducing the pressure to expand farmland. In Asia, farmland use stagnated during the last decades besides unfolding mechanization. However, mechanization can also facilitate land expansion, especially in more land-abundant countries. In such countries, farmland expansion can be a rational choice for farmers, especially where other inputs are expensive (see Section 5.1). Where farmland comes from converting "pristine" land, both the aggregated economic benefits and environmental trade-offs can be pronounced (Daum et al. 2020; Pingali 2007).

While there is much evidence of farmland expansion by mechanized farmers (see Section 5.1), it is often unclear whether this land comes from reducing fallows, purchasing land from other farmers, or the conversion of "pristine" land. Daum et al. (2020) found evidence of mechanization contributing to land expansion at the costs of forest and savannah in four African countries, with potentially high implications for biodiversity conservation and climate change (Searchinger et al. 2015). In Latin America, the conversion of the Cerrado savannah, which entailed large biodiversity losses, would not have been possible without the use of large tractors (de Oliveira et al. 2017). Importantly, farmland expansion can also happen irrespective of mechanization.

Tractors can fundamentally change the face of rural landscapes (Daum et al. 2020; Kansanga et al. 2019; Kansanga et al. 2020). To facilitate the efficient use of large tractors, farmers often remove trees, hedges, rocks, and streams and enlarge and re-shape plots to become rectangular, leading to a loss of farmland diversity, mosaic landscapes, and agrobiodiversity (Daum et al. 2020; Kansanga et al. 2019). In many countries, service providers mostly serve farmers who have cleared their plots of trees and tree stumps (Daum and Birner 2017; Kansanga et al. 2020). In Ghana, Kansanga et al. (2018a) found that tractors change cropping patterns from crops such as sorghum and millet to easy-to-mechanize crops such as maize and rice. In Ethiopia, Berhane et al. (2020) found mechanization to be associated with lower crop diversity. Mechanization does not always have negative effects on on-farm biodiversity. Biodiversity-enhancing practices such as no-till planting, intercropping, and rotations are often not adopted by farmers because they are very labor-intensive (Daum et al. 2022c; Dahlin and Rusinamhodzi 2019).

#### 5.2.2 Soil compaction and erosion

Healthy soils are key for sustainable agri-food systems. There is a widespread concern that mechanization using (heavy) tractors and inappropriate implements can lead to soil erosion and compaction causing soil degradation and declining yields (FAO and AUC 2018; Keller et al. 2019). Such concerns have to be taken very seriously given the already widespread land degradation (although mostly not due to mechanization) and the often shallow topsoil in tropical and subtropical countries of the Global South. Soil compaction depends on machinery weights, the number of passes, and soil types. Soil compaction due to heavy mechanization has been observed across the world (Hamza and Anderson 2005; Keller et al. 2019; Takeshima and Biggs 2020). Soil erosion can occur in the absence of mechanization but exacerbated soil erosion problems due to mechanized tillage have been observed in several African countries (Benin et al. 2015; Daum et al. 2020) and in Latin America and the Caribbean (Elverdin et al. 2018). A particular concern is disc plows, which can lead to hardpans and massive soil erosion, especially where rainfalls are heavy (Daum and Birner 2020). Soil erosion can also be a result of the removal of farm trees and changing cropping patterns due to mechanization (Kansanga et al. 2020). Soil compaction and erosion can be greatly reduced with sound technical and agronomic solutions (see Section 6).

#### 5.2.3 Fossil energy use, renewable energy, and water use

Another concern related to mechanization is that it relies on the use of fossil energy (Daum and Birner 2020). This criticism neglects that both human and animal power also depends on energy (in the form of food and feed). Moreover, renewable energy is increasingly used to power mechanization activities along the value chain, in particular stationary activities. For example, solar power may be used for irrigation, cooling and refrigeration (for livestock products and fruits and vegetables), drying, but also agro-processing activities such as milling, threshing, husking, hulling, and pressing (IFC 2019). In the context of irrigation, motorized pumps, which are more powerful than humanpowered pumps, can lead to environmental challenges such as groundwater decline and depletion, in particular, where governance challenges were not addressed (e.g., Wada et al. 2012).

#### 5.3 Social dimension

# 5.3.1 Food security

Achieving food security is a key goal of sustainable development. People are food secure when they "at all times, have physical, social, and economic access to sufficient, safe, and nutritious food that meets their food preferences and dietary needs for an active and healthy life" (United Nations Committee on World Food Security). Mechanization can affect all four pillars of food security, which are (1) availability, (2) accessibility, (3) utilization, and (4) stability (FAO 2008). In many situations, mechanization contributes to safeguarding or raising the *availability* of food (e.g., by affecting yields, cropping intensities, farmland, and food loss) (see Section 5.1). Mechanization can also enhance *accessibility*, e.g., by improving the incomes of farmers, many of which



suffer from poverty and hunger (see Section 5.1). Mechanization can also help to keep production costs low (Diao et al. 2020; Pingali 2007), benefiting poor net-food-buying rural and urban households, which spend 50–70% of their budgets on food (Diao et al. 2008) and often cannot afford healthy diets (Herforth et al. 2020). Mechanization can affect *utilization* where it helps to improve food safety (see Section 5.1). Mechanization can also improve food security outcomes by reducing the physical requirements related to manual farming, which are associated with large energy requirements and can lead to caloric energy shortages (Daum and Birner 2021; Ogwuike et al. 2014). Irrigation, processing, preservation, and storage technologies affect the *stability* pillar of food security (see Section 5.1).

However, in some cases, mechanization may also have negative effects on food security. In Ghana, Kansanga et al. (2019) found that the use of tractors triggered the clearing of trees, some of which are providing fruits and nuts, affecting the availability of some food groups and hence dietary diversity. Kansanga et al. (2018a) found that mechanized farmers focus on easy-to-mechanize cereal crops (especially maize). In Ethiopia, Berhane et al. (2020) found a correlation between mechanization and lower crop diversity. In contrast, Daum et al. (2020) found that mechanization increases crop diversity because farmers have more farmland to cultivate different crops. Importantly, households may be able to offset (or more than offset) any potential drop in farm diversity by buying food from markets. In many cases, mechanization may benefit some but not others. For example, while the conversion of savannah and forests allows the expansion of agricultural production, benefiting the respective farmers, it may affect the availability of wild foods, which can be important to other rural residents. The stability pillar of food security may be affected when mechanization contributes to land degradation (Daum et al. 2020).

#### 5.3.2 Well-being and health

Well-being and health are important social goals of sustainability transformations. In the absence of mechanization, farming is typically associated with backbreaking work, which can undermine well-being and health (Sims and Kienzle 2006). This drudgery is particularly high under tropical conditions and will likely be intensified by climate change (Dasgupta et al. 2021). Mechanization can help to reduce the drudgery associated with manual farming as well as allow for more leisure time (Benin 2015; Daum and Birner 2021; Daum et al. 2021a, b; Theis et al. 2019). Pingali (2007) describes how mechanical milling, a power-intensive and laborious task, which has spread across the world, has released farm family labor,



"especially women from the arduous task of de-husking, pounding and milling grain, often on a daily basis" (p. 2800). Motorized irrigation has also been shown to greatly reduce time spent on fetching water, benefiting in particular women and girls (Malabo Montpellier Panel 2018). In a study in four African countries, the reduction of labor burden and the freeing of time for non-farm activities were mentioned as the top positive effects associated with mechanization as perceived by rural residents (Daum et al. 2020). The heavy toil associated with farming can also prevent adults from carrying out care activities and food preparation, negatively affecting the well-being, food security, and health of children (Johnston et al. 2018). Mechanization may be of particular relevance to reducing child labor in agriculture (Takeshima and Vos 2022). Seventy percent of child labor is in agriculture, affecting the present and future livelihoods of 112 million children (ILO 2021), by negatively affecting their well-being and health as well as the ability to play or go to school (Daum et al. 2021a; ILO 2021). Mechanization may also affect mental health as it can be associated with higher social status (Daum et al. 2021a) and increased resilience, as shown above. Furthermore, mechanization may negatively affect farmers' mental health if they struggle to repay debts taken to finance machinery or mechanization services. Operator comfort and safety is a growing concern when humans interact with machines. In a survey in Ghana, Aikins and Barkah (2012) found that only 5% of operators wore close-fitted clothing and only 50% wore heavy-duty boots and all tractors sampled lacked rollover protective structures. Also in Ghana, Aikins (2012) found that 36% of the operators had no valid license to operate any car, truck, or tractor at all.

#### 5.3.3 Equity

Large farms typically have higher motivation and opportunity to mechanize (see Section 4.3). Institutional and technological innovations can greatly minimize the subsequent mechanization divide but mechanization still tends to be more common on large farms across much of the world (e.g., Berhane et al. 2020; Elverdin et al. 2018; Gulati and Juneja 2020; Takeshima 2017). The earlier adoption of technologies by large farms can give them a comparative advantage over small ones, which can lead to a more unequal distribution of land and wealth (Binswanger 1986). A growing advantage of large farms due to mechanization was found, for example, in Indonesia (Yamauchi 2016) and China (Wang et al. 2016). In land-scarce countries, small farmers are then likely to experience competition in land markets and may be displaced where land rights are poorly established (Pingali 2007). Pingali (2007) has shown that tractor use has led to the displacement of tenant farmers in several Asian countries. In land-abundant countries, mechanized farms may grow without direct immediate effects on non-mechanized farmers (Houssou and Chapoto 2014). However, land disparities still rise and the future farmland area expansion potentials of non-mechanized farmers are affected (Pingali 2007). In Ghana, Kansanga et al. (2018b) have shown that mechanized farmers expand their production by renting out less land to non-native farmers and by appropriating communal lands, foreclosing farmland expansion by poorer households and future generations. However, mechanization does not always disadvantage small farms. Takeshima and Lawal (2020) argue that in Nigeria tractors "seem to be helping smallholders survive and become more productive, rather than inducing their exit from farming" (p. 446). Moreover, equity concerns are less problematic where mechanized farmers expand by acquiring land from farmers who voluntarily exit farming as part of structural transformation processes (Pingali 2007). There can be economic gains when less productive farms make space for more productive farms and land consolidation becomes possible (Pingali 2007; Fuglie et al. 2019).

#### 5.3.4 Gender

Improving the status of women is intrinsically valuable as well as a key to achieving several other sustainable development goals (Antle and Ray 2020). With women shouldering a large share of the agricultural labor burden, one could expect them to benefit much from agricultural mechanization. However, mechanization comes with risks as well as opportunities for women, in particular concerning the level of access and impacts on labor. Croppenstedt et al. (2013) found female-headed households (especially households where women are the head and no other male adults are present in the household) to have-by far-less access to motorized mechanization in 13 of 13 studied countries from across the Global South. Women have also been shown to have less access to mechanization as compared to men in several country case studies (e.g., Ahmed and Takeshima 2020; Daum and Birner 2017; Daum et al. 2020; Fischer et al. 2018; Kirui 2019; Njuki et al. 2014; Theis et al. 2019). This can be due to social norms and unfavorable socioeconomic conditions faced by female-headed households who, for example, tend to have smaller and more scattered plots and lower access to credit (Ahmed and Takeshima 2020; Badstue et al. 2020; Croppenstedt et al. 2013; Daum and Birner 2017; Kansanga et al. 2019; Theis et al. 2019; Van Eerdewijk and Danielsen 2015). However, women are not always disadvantaged. In China, Ma (2018) found that female-headed households were more likely to use farm machines than male-headed ones.

Where households access mechanization, this can positively or negatively affect women's labor burden, depending on which crops and tasks are mechanized, the original allocation of labor, and second-round effects (Doss 2001). In many examples, mechanization has reduced the large labor burden associated with farming for women. In India, mechanized tillage benefited women more than men and reduced female labor by 22% between 1999 and 2011-mainly because of lower weeding requirements (Afridi et al. 2020). This pattern has also been observed in several African countries (Baudron et al. 2019a, b; Daum et al. 2021a). Women can also benefit from mechanized processing, a task predominantly conducted by women (Pingali 2007). Moreover, motorized irrigation has also been shown to greatly reduce the time spent fetching water by women (Malabo Montpellier Panel 2018). The reduction of women's workloads gives women time for other agricultural activities (e.g., livestock keeping or gardening), off-farm work, and leisure, as well as for care activities, which can improve the nutrition and education of children (Johnston et al. 2018; Theis et al. 2019).

Several studies suggest that women have not benefitted as much from mechanization due to households first mechanizing "male" crops (often cash crops) and activities (often more power-intensive activities such as land preparation) (Doss 2001; Evers and Walters 2001; Sims et al. 2016). Van Eerdewijk and Danielsen (2015) found in four African countries that mechanization focuses on male-dominated activities as women are constrained in articulating their demand for the mechanization of activities pursued by them due to a lack of empowerment. Mechanization may also lead to a higher workload for women. In many areas, men have focused on more power-intensive and women on more control-intensive activities (Afridi et al. 2020; Doss 2001). The sequential adoption of mechanization starting with power-intensive activities can raise the workload for not yet mechanized control-intensive activities such as weeding, harvesting, and processing (Afridi et al. 2020; Doss 2001; Takeshima and Lawal 2020). Pingali (2007, referring to Ebron 1984) reports on the gender effects of mechanical threshers using an illustrative case from the Philippines. Before mechanization, men mainly carried out this manual task since it requires a large amount of physical strength. With mechanization, threshing became "lighter" and women had to take over the task-while men pursued more lucrative off-farm work. Even where mechanization efforts focus on "female" crops (e.g., those for home consumption) and activities, women do not always turn out to benefit. This is because women can lose their decision-making power over "female" crops and activities once they are mechanized and their labor is no longer needed (Carranza 2014; Daum et al. 2021a; Fischer et al. 2018; Van Eerdewijk and Danielsen 2015). However, there are also cases where mechanization has empowered women by reducing their dependence on male labor and allowing them to pursue "male" crops and activities (Daum et al. 2020; Fischer et al. 2018).



# 6 Innovations for smallholder mechanization

Technological and institutional innovations are key to making agricultural mechanization available to smallholder farmers. Technological innovations include smaller-sized types of machinery such as small four-wheeled tractors and two-wheeled tractors (see Section 6.1). Institutional innovations include a wide range of asset-sharing arrangements such as service markets and cooperative solutions (see Section 6.2). Digital tools may help to address some of the challenges typically associated with such asset-sharing arrangements.

# 6.1 Technological innovations

Technological solutions such as small four-wheel tractors and two-wheel tractors were key factors in reducing the mechanization divide in Asia (Bhattarai et al. 2020; Diao et al. 2020; Win et al. 2020). Two-wheeled tractors may be more profitable and adapted to small farm sizes; can maneuver around tree stumps and stones; are easier to operate, maintain, and repair; and are more viable for microfinance (Baudron et al. 2015; Kahan et al. 2018). Some scholars also see scope for two-wheeled tractors in Africa, although others argue that two-wheeled tractors are associated with a large labor burden and struggle to work the drier and harder soils of mostly rainfed Africa (Daum and Birner 2020; Daum et al 2022b). Baudron et al. (2015) argue that two-wheeled tractors are powerful enough to pull rippers and direct seeders for mechanized Conservation Agriculture. Small four-wheel tractors may also be of relevance for African mechanization, which Diao et al. (2020) argue to be held back by a historical bias toward large-scale tractors.

While considered outdated by some (FAO and AUC 2018), others see continued scope for animal traction in parts of the world (Daum et al. 2022b; Thierfelder 2021). In Asian countries, animal traction has played a large role until very recently (Diao et al. 2020). Diao et al. (2020) argued that the familiarity with draught animals and the existence of respective service markets have facilitated the adoption of tractors and the emergence of tractor service markets. In parts of Africa, animal traction is still widespread or even on the rise (Diao et al. 2020). Pingali et al. (1987) argued that bypassing the animal traction stage on the mechanization ladder is difficult; however, this leapfrogging has happened in several countries. With ample pasture, the use of draught animals can be the rational choice for farmers. Draught animals can also provide meat, milk, hide, manure, and biogas.

However, the use of draught animals can have risks, in particular in the absence of reliable support infrastructure (e.g., veterinary services), and the climate crisis. Animal traction requires farmers to have enough pastures or cropland (and labor) to produce feed. With increasing pressure on pastures and farmlands, farmers typically shift toward motorized mechanization. This is bound to happen, for example, in Ethiopia, which has a long culture of animal traction but where the prices for animal traction have doubled in the last two decades (Berhane et al. 2020). In some world regions, particularly in Central Africa, animal traction never evolved due to a high prevalence of animal disease (Alsan 2015; Mrema et al. 2020; Pingali et al. 1987).

#### 6.2 Institutional innovations

Institutional innovations can also enable smallholder farmers to access mechanization. Asset-sharing arrangements have emerged across the Global North (Daum et al. 2018; Olmstead and Rhode 1995) and Global South (Pingali 2007). Mechanization service markets are of particular importance. Machinery owners can spread the fixed costs associated with the purchase of machinery and customers can access machinery that they cannot afford to buy. Service markets play a key role in driving and making mechanization inclusive in Asia (Cramb and Thepent 2020; Diao et al. 2020; Zhang et al. 2017). In Myanmar, the use of tractors for land preparation and combine harvesters for harvesting/threshing is only marginally higher among larger farmers, thanks to vibrant service markets (see Fig. 6).

However, mechanization service markets can be undermined by several challenges, which have hampered such markets in some world regions. In Zambia, Adu-Baffour et al. (2019) found that only half of the tractor owners who purchased tractors in a private sector scheme with the specific aim to serve smallholder farmers offered services. Mechanization service markets can be undermined by high (transaction) costs where farmers have small and fragmented plots and where infrastructure is poor (Daum



Fig. 6 Adoption rates of different mechanization technologies (twowheel tractors, four-wheel tractors, and combine harvesters) in different farm size categories in Myanmar (Win 2020).

et al. 2021b). In many farming systems, farmers demand mechanization services only for a few weeks per year and usually at the same time due to shared rainfall and temperature patterns, an effect that is particularly pronounced in semi-arid, rainfed farming systems. Service providers can increase utilization rates by offering different types of seasonal services (e.g., land preparation, harvesting, processing, and transportation); however, farmers may not demand such services due to the sequential adoption of mechanization (Diao et al. 2020). Another way to increase utilization rates is seasonal migration to areas with different rainfall and temperature patterns. Migratory service provision is popular in many Asian and some African countries but can be undermined by poor infrastructure and border issues (Berhane et al. 2020; Diao et al. 2014, 2020; Takeshima and Lawal 2020). There can also be a considerable risk of machinery damage-for instance, in many African countries, farmers are opening new land where there is a high prevalence of tree stumps and stones yet lack the means to carefully clear it (Daum and Birner 2017; Diao et al. 2020).

Such challenges can also lead to the exclusion of some types of farmers, in particular poor farmers and women (Cabral and Amanor 2022; Daum and Birner 2017). In Ghana, Daum and Birner (2017) found that many tractor owners are reluctant to serve smallholder farmers and Cossar (2016) found that farmers without social capital and networks can be excluded from service markets. For smallholder farmers, accessing mechanization service markets can be associated with uncertainty, risks, dependencies, and unequal power relations, especially where competition is limited (Daum and Birner 2017). Smallholder farmers can group themselves and contact service providers jointly to reduce transaction costs or rely on agents who pool them for a small fee (Adu-Baffour et al. 2019; Daum and Birner 2017). In some countries, service provision is organized as part of out-grower schemes of downstream value chain actors (Daum and Birner 2017; de Martínez et al. 2016).

Asset-sharing strategies are easier to set up for stationary and less time-bound activities. For example, mechanized milling has spread across the world for many decades (Pingali 2007). Farmers may also jointly purchase machinery as part of cooperative arrangements. Cooperative ownership is widespread for stationary activities such as grain milling (Pingali 2007). However, joint ownership structures for machinery for mobile activities (e.g., tractors for land preparation) can be heavily affected by governance challenges. For example, free-rider problems may undermine careful operation and maintenance and the synchronous timing of framing may lead to conflicts (Daum and Birner 2017). Cooperative arrangements may also be dominated by wealthy farmers and exclude poor farmers, female farmers, and other often marginalized groups (Daum and Birner 2017).

Asset-sharing arrangements had emerged across the world in the pre-digital era (Binswagner and Donovan 1987; Olmstead and Rhode 1995; Pingali 2007). However, digital tools hold great promise to improve such arrangements. For example, digital tools such as GPS tracking devices and fleet management software can be used by service providers to reduce problems related to the supervision of machinery operators, which are particularly high for migratory service providers. Digital tools following the model of Uber-type solutions for ride-hailing, which are on the rise across much of the Global South, promise to reduce the large transaction costs faced by smallholder farmers and by machinery service providers. Examples of such tools are Hello Tractor in Nigeria, Trotro Tractor in Ghana, and EM3 in India.

While such tools hold great promises, they face various challenges that urban ride-hailing markets do not face. In urban areas, the density of customer demand is higher-both across space and time. In rural areas, farmers demand services often only once or twice per season, and farmers from the same areas demand service at the same time, as discussed above. Moreover, urban infrastructure tends to be more developed as compared to rural infrastructure. Lastly, ownership rates of mobile/smartphones and digital connectivity, literacy, and trust are typically higher in urban areas. To address these challenges. Uber for tractor tools often rely on the use of analogous solutions such as booking agents to pool smallholder farmers against a commission (Daum et al. 2021b). As such, their advantages for customers over more traditional forms of organizing service markets are still more limited than often assumed (Daum et al. 2021b). This may change in the future, however, and digital tools are likely to become a key cornerstone for inclusive agricultural mechanization.

# 7 Pathways toward sustainable transformation

Mechanization comes with many opportunities but also some risks for the sustainable transformation of agri-food systems in the Global South. Accompanying efforts from private, public, and third-sector actors are needed to create an enabling environment for agricultural mechanization (see Section 7.1) and to harness opportunities and mitigate risks associated with mechanization to ensure sustainable and inclusive agricultural transformation (see Section 7.2).

# 7.1 Addressing barriers by creating an enabling environment for agricultural mechanization

Across the world, private mechanization markets evolved once an economic demand for technologies to substitute human labor emerged and such markets managed to



effectively provision machines, spare parts, and repair services (Diao et al. 2020; Pingali 2007). Public efforts to directly promote mechanization have a poor track recordboth historically and contemporarily-and are likely to lead to market distortions (Daum and Birner 2017; Pingali 2007). However, public sectors can play a catalytic role in mechanization by creating an enabling environment for market-led mechanization (Daum and Birner 2017; Diao et al. 2020; Pingali 2007). Third-sector actors can also play a role in assisting mechanization efforts (Daum and Birner 2017). Governments can support mechanization with both mechanization-specific more general policies and investments that are key for agricultural development. General policies and investments may affect mechanization patterns more than policies and investments directly tailored toward mechanization (Binswanger and Donovan 1986). Such policies and investments relate to tenure security, transportation, communication, and electricity infrastructure, and general credit markets and exchange rate policies:

- Improving land tenure security: Insecure land tenure creates disincentives for farmers to invest in farming and buy agricultural machinery that takes several years to pay off and can also restrict their access to credit as land titles cannot be used as collateral (Binswanger and Rosenzweig 1986; Diao et al. 2020). Enhancing land tenure security raises farmers' incentives to intensify and mechanize and allows farmers to use their land as collateral, thereby enhancing their access to credit markets, which is key for mechanization, and in particular difficult to access for smallholder farmers (Binswanger 1986; Pingali 2007). In Myanmar, land tenure reforms have significantly raised the possibility for farmers to use bank loans to purchase machines (Diao et al. 2020; Win et al. 2020).
- Improving transportation, communication, electricity, and irrigation infrastructure: Poor infrastructure can lead to high (transaction) costs for farmers accessing markets for production factors, inputs, and outputs, reducing their incentives and possibilities to intensify and produce for markets and invest in technology such as mechanization. Improving transportation infrastructure also enables farmers to better connect with urban markets, which are growing across much of the Global South, increasing both the incentives and possibilities to intensify and mechanize. Improving transportation infrastructure reduces the (transaction) costs for farmers accessing machinery, spare parts, repairs, and fuel and facilitates the emergence of (migratory) service markets (Daum and Birner 2017; Mrema et al. 2008). In many Asian and Latin American and Caribbean countries, transportation and communication infrastructure has improved rapidly during the last

decades, while African infrastructure has remained poor in many parts (Antle and Ray 2020). Improving communication infrastructure can help to reduce the transaction costs related to both input and output markets. By improving the electricity supply, governments can support the local manufacturing sector as well as facilitate the uptake of mechanization technologies such as pumps for irrigation and machinery for processing and preservation (Cramb and Thepent 2020; Diao et al. 2020; Justice and Biggs 2020). Governments may want to specifically focus on the potential of renewable energy to power mechanization down the value chain (IFC 2019). The experiences of Asia also suggest that investments in public irrigation infrastructure can play a key role in mechanization development (Diao et al. 2020).

. Improving general credit markets and exchange rate policies: Credit is crucial for mechanization as machinery is expensive and can take several years to pay off. Smallholder farmers' access to credits is usually limited due to a lack of collateral (e.g., land titles) and high transaction costs, among other challenges (Binswanger and Rosenzweig 1986; Daum and Birner 2017; de Martínez et al. 2016; Van Loon et al. 2020). Diao et al. (2020) argue that African farmers in particular face high financial constraints. Alongside lack of access, high interest rates often make it impossible to use credits to finance tractors (Daum and Birner 2017; de Martínez et al. 2016; Diao et al. 2020; Van Loon et al. 2020). General policies related to interest rates can heavily influence mechanization patterns (Binswanger and Donovan 1987). Credit policies have played a key role in Asian mechanization (Cramb and Thepent 2020; Diao et al. 2020). Likewise, general policies related to exchange rates can also heavily influence mechanization patterns by affecting the import costs for machinery, spare parts, and fuel (Binswanger and Donovan 1987; Daum and Birner 2017; Diao et al. 2020).

Next to supporting mechanization with general policies and investments, policymakers can also pursue mechanization-specific policies and investments, in particular related to knowledge and skills development, quality assurance, applied research, import policies, and finance, among others.

 Building knowledge and skills: Machinery manufacturers, dealers, owners, operators, technicians, and farmers all need knowledge and skills on how to create, manage, operate, maintain, and repair agricultural machinery (Bishop-Sambrook 2005; Diao et al. 2020; FAO and AUC 2018; Thoelen and Daum 2019). Although a lack of knowledge and skills can heavily undermine the profitability and sustainability of mechanization, knowledge and skills are often poorly promoted (Daum and Birner 2017; Houssou et al. 2013; Van Loon et al. 2020). Regarding, machinery operation, Houssou et al. (2013) showed that 86% of tractors in Ghana are affected by frequent and longlasting breakdowns due to poor maintenance and a lack of skilled operators and mechanics. Also in Ghana, Aikins and Haruna (2012) found that 48% of the tractors broke down more than three times per season due to a lack of maintenance and careless operation. Aikins (2012) found that 97% of operators in Ghana did not follow maintenance rules. Public efforts to build knowledge and skills played a key role during the mechanization history of today's mechanized countries (Daum et al. 2018). Vocational training centers that combine applied "on-the-job" training with theoretical "in-classroom" teaching may be particularly suited to provide the knowledge and skills needed (Daum and Kirui 2021; Van Loon et al. 2020).

- *Providing mechanisms for quality assurance and developing standards*: A lack of quality assurance in the form of testing and certification of machinery, spare parts, and fuels can also undermine mechanization, as it increases the uncertainty and risks associated with the purchase of machinery, spare parts, and fuels (Daum et al. 2018; Diao et al. 2020). A lack of testing and certification may in particular affect local manufacturers who may be less trusted by customers (Daum and Birner 2017). Testing and certification can be organized by public-, market-, and third-sector organizations, and may be organized across countries. Likewise, strengthening the institutions setting standards can support the manufacturing and trade of mechanization technologies (FAO and AUC 2018).
- Conducting applied research and development: Mechanization (but not automation) hinges less on public basic science research than some other agricultural technologies (Evenson and Binswanger 1978), and many technological advances are driven by private research and development (Diao et al. 2020; FAO and AUC 2018). Governments can support private research and development with the most appropriate institutions as well as conduct or fund applied research on how to develop technical, agronomic, and economic solutions for locally adapted and sustainable mechanization (Daum and Kriui 2021; FAO and AUC 2018).
- Improving import policies and procedures: High import duties and tedious customs procedures can affect mechanization supply. In Asia, the removal of import restrictions greatly contributed to mechanization (Diao et al. 2020; Pingali 2007). In Africa, machinery is now exempted from import duties in many countries although they remain in some countries (Diao et al. 2020; FAO and AUC 2018; Van Loon et al. 2020). Moreover, while machinery is mostly exempted, spare parts are often charged with—sometimes high—duties, which can undermine the sustainability of mechanization. Tedious and slow import procedures and

"unofficial" duties can also affect machinery imports (Daum and Birner 2017; Diao et al. 2020). Reducing import duties for machinery and spare parts and improving customs procedures can help to increase investments in machinery and spare parts and lower mechanization costs (Daum and Birner 2017; Diao et al. 2020; FAO and AUC 2018).

Improving mechanization finance: Limited access to • finance often constrains the scaling-up of mechanization. Unlike seeds, fertilizers, and pesticides, mechanization technologies are lumpy assets that typically require costs to be spread across several years (Daum and Birner 2017; Diao et al. 2020; Ströh de Martínez et al. 2016). To purchase machinery, farmers can use cash, savings, or financial services. Investment loans are the most common solution to finance mechanization but can be undermined by a lack of security and high costs (Daum and Birner 2017; Ströh de Martínez et al. 2016). In the case of security issues, contract-based securities, loan guarantee schemes, joint liability groups, and leasing can be options (Ströh de Martínez et al. 2016). In the case of cost issues, matching grants and "smart" subsidies (which do not distort markets) may play a role (Ströh de Martínez et al. 2016). Some Asian countries used such tools to enhance farmers' access to credit (Bhattarai et al. 2020; Diao et al. 2020). Value chain finance may also be a way forward (Ströh de Martínez et al. 2016). Also, as shown by the historic example of the Raiffeisen model (Turvey 2017) and the more recent experiences of India (Bhattarai et al. 2020), cooperative credits can play a key role in financing mechanization. While much attention focuses on loans, saving products can also play a role and insurance products may become necessary for larger machinery (Ströh de Martínez et al. 2016). Next to farmers and service providers, local manufacturers and maintenance and repair shops may also need access to loans (Daum and Birner 2017; FAO and AUC 2018). Mechanization finance should be led by market actors and guided by commercial viability as public efforts to directly finance mechanization often struggle with large governance challenges (Meyer 2011; Ströh de Martínez et al. 2016).

# 7.2 Ensuring that mechanization contributes to sustainable agri-food systems transformation

Section 5 has shown various sustainability synergies and trade-offs related to agricultural mechanization. Sustainability synergies arise due to positive effects related to food security, poverty reduction, and health and well-being, among many others. Possible sustainability trade-offs concern unemployment effects, biodiversity loss from farmland expansion and simplification, soil compaction and erosion, disparities between large and small farms, and women's



disempowerment, among others. These trade-offs can be minimized or avoided altogether with accompanying policies and investments:

- Safeguarding against negative employment effects: Mechanization can have a wide range of different effects on rural employment, both positive and negative (see Section 5.1). Empirical evidence suggests that mechanization typically does not have negative effects on unemployment where it emerges as a response to market forces such as rising rural wages due to structural transformation and where it replaces unpaid family labor (Binswanger 1986; Daum and Birner 2020). However, unemployment effects are typically the results of mechanization being artificially pushed by large-scale public efforts to import and subsidize machinery, suggesting that governments should avoid such efforts (Pingali 2007).
- Avoiding biodiversity loss from farmland expansion and simplification: Mechanization can lead to farmland expansion at the expense of forests and savannah lands, contributing to climate change and biodiversity loss (see Section 5.2). Land-use planning and monitoring can be used to minimize or avoid such effects by protecting land that is particularly valuable for climate change mitigation and biodiversity conservation (Daum and Birner 2020; Daum et al. 2020). Negative effects can also be reduced with more sustainable cultivation strategies such as crop-livestock-forestry systems, which come with fewer climate effects and allow for more biodiversity (Alves et al. 2017; Daum and Birner 2020; Daum et al. 2020). In some countries, governments have successfully minimized farmland expansion with land use planning and monitoring. However, in other countries, public interventions contributed to such negative effects, for example, when they supported large-scale block farming schemes or land investments. Section 5.2 also shows that mechanization can be associated with farmland simplification to facilitate the use of large tractors. Land-use planning and monitoring can be used to preserve mosaic landscapes (highly diverse landscapes with various types of ecosystems), which are considered to be key for biodiversity conservation. Scale-appropriate mechanization, where "machines are adapted to farm size and not the opposite" (Baudron et al. 2019b, p. 154), can also help to reduce negative environmental effects (Baudron et al. 2015, 2019b). Small four-wheel or two-wheel tractors are better able to maneuver around traditional landscape features and on-farm trees as compared to large tractors.
- Safeguarding against land degradation: Mechanization can lead to soil compaction and erosion. Knowledge and skills development efforts can help ensure operating practices that reduce soil compaction and erosion. Lighter machinery can also mitigate soil compaction. Mechanized

conservation agriculture can reduce soil disturbance using rippers or direct planters to replace plows. Jaleta et al. (2019) argue that farm mechanization and reduced tillage to avoid erosion are not antagonistic but synergistic. Conservation agriculture with minimal soil disturbances, crop rotation, and permanent soil covers can reduce soil erosion by up to 99% (Labrière et al. 2015). Conservation agriculture appears as the way forward for mechanized agriculture across much of the Global South (Baudron et al. 2015; FAO and AUC 2018) but locally adapted solutions are needed to avoid some of the challenges (Giller et al. 2009). Applied technical and agronomic research can help to explore mechanization solutions that best fit local bio-physical conditions. Governments can also apply higher duties and taxes or otherwise restrict access to implements that are likely to be harmful to soils (Daum and Birner 2017; FAO and AUC 2018)

- Addressing disparities between large and small farms: Technological and institutional innovations can help to drive mechanization and ensure it is inclusive for smallholder farmers (see Section 6). Technological solutions such as smaller-sized machinery, two-wheeled tractors, and even animal traction can play a role (Daum et al. 2022b). Farmers themselves can best choose which mechanization solutions best fit their local conditions and governments should help create a level playing field. Institutional solutions such as mechanization service markets have been key for smallholder mechanization across the world. Governments can support the emergence of such service markets by improving rural infrastructure, providing good legal conditions, facilitating border crossings, and providing service providers with knowledge and skills development, including business aspects (FAO and AUC 2018; Daum and Birner 2017). Third-sector organizations such as farmer-based organizations can help to reduce the transaction costs related to working with smallholder farmers, for example, by organizing farmers in groups (Adu-Baffour et al. 2019). Digital tools can address some challenges associated with service markets such as reducing transaction costs. Government can facilitate the use of such tools with efforts to build digital connectivity, literacy, and trust (Daum et al. 2021b). While technological and institutional innovations can reduce mechanization divides, mechanization may still favor larger farms. Governments have to ensure that small farms are protected from encroachment or get compensation when they voluntarily leave their land to work in non-farm sectors by improving land tenure security (Pingali 2007).
- Ensuring that women benefit from mechanization: Mechanization can both positively and negatively affect women; hence, integrating women in mechanization

efforts is key to avoiding negative effects (Ströh de Martínez et al. 2016). Women often have less access to mechanization, partly because of owning smaller and more fragmented plots and having less access to agricultural markets, credits, and extension, among others. Policies and investments that address these disadvantages (e.g., policies improving women's land rights or access to credit and extension) will also help to increase women's access to agricultural mechanization. Another reason women have less access to mechanization is social norms. Entry points to change this may be gender awareness campaigns (e.g., "show-casing" women who are successful service providers or operators) and supporting women's mechanization groups where women collectively manage machinery with knowledge and skills development and access to finance (van Eerdewijk and Danielsen 2015). More research is needed to better understand how women's access to mechanization can be improved. Women may also be less able to express their mechanization needs due to lacking empowerment and can be affected by second-round effects on their labor burden (Doss 2001; Evers and Walters 2001; Sims et al. 2016; van Eerdewijk and Danielsen 2015). Policies and investments enhancing women's power can help them to better express their needs and avoid negative secondround effects or ensure appropriate compensation. Public research and development can focus on gender-friendly mechanization technologies, tailoring the design of technologies to the needs of women (FAO and AUC 2018).

# 8 Conclusions

Innovations are key to enabling more sustainable agri-food systems but can come with sustainability synergies and trade-offs across the three pillars of sustainability. One such innovation that is on the rise in the Global South is agricultural mechanization. This review suggests that manybut not all-Asia and Latin America and the Caribbean countries have experienced considerable progress regarding mechanization more lately, driven by farming system evolution, structural transformation, and urbanization. In Sub-Saharan Africa, progress has been limited on average but farming systems have been rapidly evolving and mechanization has emerged as a top policy priority. Mechanization comes with many opportunities but also some risks for the sustainable transformation of agri-food systems in the Global South. This literature review suggests that agricultural mechanization can help to make agri-food systems more sustainable from a socio-economic perspective due to positive effects related to labor productivity, poverty reduction, food security, and health and well-being, among others.

Possible sustainability trade-offs concern biodiversity loss from farmland expansion and simplification, soil compaction and erosion and social aspects related to disparities between large and small farms, and women's disempowerment, among others. These trade-offs have to be taken seriously but can be greatly minimized or avoided with accompanying policies and investments. However, more efforts are needed to implement such solutions at scale and ensure that mechanization contributes to agri-food systems that respect all pillars of sustainability.

Acknowledgements An earlier version of this paper was produced as a background paper for the 2022 State of Food and Agriculture (SOFA) report of the Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations. Special thanks to Andrea Cattaneo, Ahmad Sadiddin, Jakob Skoet, and Sara Vaz, for their great guidance and comments. Additional thanks to Laurence Dynes, Christian Morales Opazo, Ana Paula de la O Campo, and Marco V. Sanchez for their good comments. Thanks also for the comments from the participants of the SOFA workshops. The careful comments from the editors and reviewers are greatly appreciated: thank you.

Authors' contributions Not applicable

**Funding** Open Access funding enabled and organized by Projekt DEAL. This work received financial support from the Food and Agriculture Organisation (FAO) of the United Nations.

Data availability Not applicable

Code availability Not applicable

#### Declarations

Conflict of interest The author declares no competing interests.

Consent for publication Not applicable

Ethics approval Not applicable

Consent to participate Not applicable

**Open Access** This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

# References

Abeyratne F, Takeshima H (2020) The evolution of agricultural mechanization in Sri Lanka. In: An evolving paradigm of agricultural mechanization development: How much can Africa learn from Asia? International Food Policy Research Institute, Washington, DC, pp. 139-163. https://doi.org/10.2499/9780896293809\_04



- Adu-Baffour F, Daum T, Birner R (2019) Can small farms benefit from big companies' initiatives to promote mechanization in Africa? A case study from Zambia. Food Policy 84:133. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.foodpol.2019.03.007
- Afridi F, Bishnu M, Mahajan K (2020) Gendering technological change: evidence from agricultural mechanization. Discussion Paper 13712. IZA - Institute of Labor Economics, Bonn. https:// docs.iza.org/dp13712.pdf. Accessed 14 Oct 2022
- Ahmed M, Takeshima H (2020) Evolution of agricultural mechanization in Bangladesh: the case of tractors for land preparation. In: An evolving paradigm of agricultural mechanization development: How much can Africa learn from Asia? International Food Policy Research Institute, Washington, DC, pp. 235-262. https:// doi.org/10.2499/9780896293809\_07
- Aikins S, Barkah N (2012) Tractor operators and passengers' perception about tractor safety in Kumasi, Ghana. Global J Eng Des Technol 1(2):6. https://www.longdom.org/articles-pdfs/tractor-operatorsand-passengers-perception-about-tractor-safety-in-kumasi-ghana. pdf. Accessed 14 Oct 2022
- Aikins S (2012) A survey of agricultural tractor operators' background at Ejura, Ghana. Glob J Biol, Agric Health Sci 1(1):1. https:// www.scholarscentral.com/pdfs/2653/a-survey-of-agriculturaltractor-operators-background-at-ejura-ghana.pdf. Accessed 14 Oct 2022
- Alsan M (2015) The effect of the tsetse fly on African development. Am Econ Rev 105(1):382. https://doi.org/10.1257/aer.20130604
- Alves BJ, Madari BE, Boddey RM (2017) Integrated crop–livestock– forestry systems: prospects for a sustainable agricultural intensification. Nutr Cycl Agroecosys 108(1):1. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10705-017-9851-0
- Antle JM, Ray S (2020) Sustainable agricultural development: an economic perspective. Springer Nature, Berlin. https://doi.org/10. 1007/978-3-030-34599-0
- Badstue L, Eerdewijk AV, Danielsen K et al (2020) How local gender norms and intra-household dynamics shape women's demand for laborsaving technologies: insights from maize-based livelihoods in Ethiopia and Kenya. Gend Technol Dev 24(3):341. https://doi. org/10.1080/09718524.2020.1830339
- Baudron F, Andersson JA, Corbeels M et al (2012) Failing to yield? Ploughs, conservation agriculture and the problem of agricultural intensification: an example from the Zambezi Valley. Zimbabwe. J Dev Stud 48(3):393. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220388.2011.587509
- Baudron F, Sims B, Justice S et al (2015) Re-examining appropriate mechanization in Eastern and Southern Africa: two-wheel tractors, conservation agriculture, and private sector involvement. Food Sec 7(4):889. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12571-015-0476-3
- Baudron F, Misiko M, Getnet B et al (2019a) A farm-level assessment of labor and mechanization in Eastern and Southern Africa. Agron Sustain Dev 39(2):17. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13593-019-0563-5
- Baudron F, Nazare R, Matangi D (2019b) The role of mechanization in transformation of smallholder agriculture in Southern Africa: experience from Zimbabwe. In Transforming Agriculture in Southern Africa. Routledge, London, pp. 152-160. https://doi. org/10.4324/9780429401701
- Belton B, Win MT, Zhang X et al. (2021) The rapid rise of agricultural mechanization in Myanmar. Food Policy 101, 102095, https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.foodpol.2021.102095
- Benin S (2015) Impact of Ghana's agricultural mechanization services center program. Agr Econ 46(S1):103. https://doi.org/10.1111/ agec.12201
- Berhane G, Dereje M, Minten B et al. (2020) The rapid–but from a low base–uptake of agricultural mechanization in Ethiopia: patterns, implications and challenges. In: An evolving paradigm of agricultural mechanization development: How much can Africa learn from Asia? International Food Policy Research Institute, Washington, pp. 329-375. https://doi.org/10.2499/9780896293809\_10



- Bhattarai M, Singh G, Takeshima H et al. (2020) Farm machinery use and the agricultural machinery industries in India. In Diao, Takeshima, and Zhang (Eds). In: An evolving paradigm of agricultural mechanization development: How much can Africa learn from Asia? International Food Policy Research Institute, Washington, pp. 97-137. https://doi.org/10.2499/9780896293809\_03
- Binswanger HP (1986) Agricultural mechanization: a comparative historical perspective. World Bank Res Obser 1(1):27. https://doi. org/10.1093/wbro/1.1.27
- Binswanger H, Rosenzweig M (1986) Behavioural and material determinants of production relations in agriculture. J Dev Stud 22(3):503. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220388608421994
- Binswanger HP, Donovan G (1987) Agricultural mechanization: issues and options. World Bank, Washington, DC. https:// documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/487111468202161680/ pdf/multi-page.pdf. Accessed 14 Oct 2022
- Binswanger-Mkhize H, Savastano S (2017) Agricultural intensification: the status in six African countries. Food Policy 67:26. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.foodpol.2016.09.021
- Bishop-Sambrook C (2005). Contribution of farm power to smallholder livelihoods in sub-Saharan Africa. Food and Agriculture Organization, Rome. https://www.fao.org/3/a0229e/a0229e.pdf. Accessed 14 Oct 2022
- Boserup, E (1965) The conditions of agricultural growth: the economics of agrarian change under population pressure. Routledge. https:// www.routledge.com/The-Conditions-of-Agricultural-Growth-The-Economics-of-Agrarian-Change/Boserup/p/book/9781853831591. Accessed 14 Oct 2022
- Breuer T, Brenneis K, Fortenbacher D (2015) Mechanisation a catalyst for rural development in sub-Saharan Africa. Rural 21. DLG, Bonn, Germany. https://www.rural21.com/fileadmin/downloads/ 2015/en-02/rural2015\_02-S16-19.pdf. Accessed 14 Oct 2022
- Cabral L, Amanor KS (2022) Tractors, states, markets and agrarian change in Africa. Peasant Stud 49(1):129. https://doi.org/10. 1080/03066150.2021.1918115
- Cabral L (2019) Tractors in Africa: looking behind the technical fix. APRA, Future Agricultures Consortium. https://opendocs.ids.ac. uk/opendocs/handle/20.500.12413/14400. Accessed 14 Oct 2022
- Carranza, (2014) Soil endowments, female labor force participation, and the demographic deficit of women in India. Am Econ J Appl Econ 6(4):197. https://doi.org/10.1257/app.6.4.197
- Christiaensen L, Demery L, Kuhl J (2011) The (evolving) role of agriculture in poverty reduction—An empirical perspective. J Dev Econ 96(2):239. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdeveco.2010.10.006
- Cossar F (2019) Impact of mechanization on smallholder agricultural production: evidence from Ghana. 93rd Annual Conference Warwick University, Coventry, UK. https://doi.org/10.22004/ag.econ.289657
- Cramb R, Thepent C (2020) Evolution of agricultural mechanization in Thailand. In: An evolving paradigm of agricultural mechanization development: How much can Africa learn from Asia? International Food Policy Research Institute, Washington, pp. 165-201. https://doi.org/10.2499/9780896293809\_05
- Crippa M, Solazzo E, Guizzardi D et al (2021) Food systems are responsible for a third of global anthropogenic GHG emissions. Nat Food 2(3):198. https://doi.org/10.1038/s43016-021-00225-9
- Croppenstedt A, Goldstein M, Rosas N (2013) Gender and agriculture: inefficiencies, segregation, and low productivity traps. World Bank Res Obser 28(1):79. https://doi.org/10.1093/wbro/lks024
- da Silva AV, da Silva CM, Pessoa WRLS et al (2018) Agricultural mechanization in small rural properties in the State of Piau. Brazil. Afr J Agric Res 13(33):1698. https://doi.org/10.5897/ajar2018.13304
- de Brauw A, Bulte E (2021) African farmers, value chains and agricultural development. Palgrave Studies in Agricultural Economics and Food Policy. Palgrave, London. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-88693-6
- Dahlin AS, Rusinamhodzi L (2019) Yield and labor relations of sustainable intensification options for smallholder farmers

in sub-Saharan Africa. A Meta-Analysis. Agron Sustain Dev 39(3):1–18. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13593-019-0575-1

- Dasgupta S, van Maanen N, Gosling SN et al (2021) Effects of climate change on combined labor productivity and supply: an empirical, multi-model study. Lancet Planet Health 5(7):455. https://doi. org/10.1016/S2542-5196(21)00170-4
- Daum T, Birner R (2017) The neglected governance challenges of agricultural mechanisation in Africa–insights from Ghana. Food Sec 9(5):959. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12571-017-0716-9
- Daum T, Birner R (2021) The forgotten agriculture-nutrition link: farm technologies and human energy requirements. Food Sec 14:395. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12571-021-01240-1
- Daum T, Adegbola YP, Kamau G et al (2020) Perceived effects of farm tractors in four African countries, highlighted by participatory impact diagrams. Agron Sustain Dev 40(6):1. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s13593-020-00651-2
- Daum T, Capezzone F, Birner R (2021a) Using smartphone app collected data to explore the link between mechanization and intrahousehold allocation of time in Zambia. Agr Hum Values 38:411. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10460-020-10160-3
- Daum T, Villalba R, Anidi O et al (2021b) Uber for tractors? Opportunities and challenges of digital tools for tractor hire in India and Nigeria. World Dev 144(105480):1. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. worlddev.2021.105480
- Daum T, Birner R (2020) Agricultural mechanization in Africa: myths, realities and an emerging research agenda. Global Food Security, 26:100393. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gfs.2020.100393
- Daum T, Kirui O (2021) Mechanization along the value chain. In: From Potentials to Reality: Transforming Africa's Food Production. Peter Lang, Bern. https://doi.org/10.3726/b18416
- Daum T, Huffman WE, Birner R (2018) How to create conducive institutions to enable agricultural mechanization: a comparative historical study from the United States and Germany. Economics Working Papers 18009. Iowa State University. https://dr.lib.iastate.edu/server/ api/core/bitstreams/eacf0f98-b758-4be5-91b1-fa060977c102/conte nt. Accessed 14 Oct 2022
- Daum T, Adegbola PY, Adegbola C et al. (2022a) Mechanization, digitalization, and rural youth-Stakeholder perceptions on three mega-topics for agricultural transformation in four African countries. Glob Food Sec 32(100616). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gfs.2022.100616
- Daum T, Seidel A, Awoke B et al. (2022b) Animal traction, two-wheel tractors, or four-wheel tractors? A best-fit approach to guide farm mechanization in Africa. Hohenheim Working Papers on Social and Institutional Change in Agricultural Development. 001-2022b. University of Hohenheim. https://490c.uni-hohenheim.de/fileadmin/einri chtungen/490c/Publikationen/Working\_Papers\_ADP\_FINAL.pdf. Accessed 14 Oct 2022
- Daum T, Baudron F, Birner R et al. (2022c) Addressing agricultural labour issues is key to biodiversity-smart farming. Unpublished Manuscript
- de Oliveira SN, de Carvalho Júnior OA, Gomes RAT et al (2017) Landscape-fragmentation change due to recent agricultural expansion in the Brazilian Savanna, Western Bahia. Brazil. Reg Environ Change 17(2):411. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10113-016-0960-0
- Diao X, Headey D, Johnson M (2008) Toward a green revolution in Africa: what would it achieve, and what would it require? Agr Econ 39:539–550. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-0862.2008.00358.x
- Diao X, Cossar F, Houssou N et al (2014) Mechanization in Ghana: emerging demand, and the search for alternative supply models. Food Policy 48:168. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodpol.2014.05.013
- Diao X, Takeshima H, Zhang X (2020) An evolving paradigm of agricultural mechanization development: how much can Africa learn from Asia? International Food Policy Research Institute, Washington. https://doi.org/10.2499/9780896293809
- Doss CR (2001) Designing agricultural technology for African women farmers: lessons from 25 years of experience. World Dev 29(12):2075. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0305-750X(01)00088-2

- Dummet C, Blundell A (2021) Illicit harvest, complicit goods: the state of illegal deforestation for agriculture. Forest Trends, Washington, DC. https://www.forest-trends.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/ 05/Illicit-Harvest-Complicit-Goods.pdf. Accessed 14 Oct 2022
- Ebron LZ (1984) Changes in harvesting-threshing labor arrangements in Nueva Ecija. Master Thesis. College of Economics and Management. University of the Philippines
- ECLAC, FAO, IICA (2017) The outlook for agriculture and rural development in the Americas: a perspective on Latin America and the Caribbean 2017-2018. Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean, Santiago de Chile, Food and Agriculture Organisation, Rome, Inter-American Institute for Cooperation on Agriculture, San José. https://www.fao.org/3/i8048en/I8048EN.pdf. Accessed 14 Oct 2022
- Elverdin P, Piñeiro V, Robles M (2018) Agricultural mechanization in Latin America. Discussion Papers 1740. International Food Policy Research Institute, Washington, DC. http://ebrary.ifpri.org/utils/ getfile/collection/p15738coll2/id/132761/filename/132971.pdf. Accessed 14 Oct 2022
- Evenson RE, Binswanger (1978) Technology transfer and research resource allocation. In: Induced Innovation: Technology, Institutions, and Development. John Hopkins, Baltimore
- FAO (2008) An introduction to the basic concepts of food security. Food and Agriculture Organisation, Rome. www.fao.org/3/a-al936e.pdf. Accessed 14 Oct 2022
- FAO, AUC (2018) Sustainable agricultural mechanization: a framework for Africa. Food and Agriculture Organisation, Rome, and African Union Commission, Addis Adaba. http://www.fao.org/3/ CA1136EN/ca1136en.pdf. Accessed 14 Oct 2022
- Feder G, Just RE, Zilberman D (1985) Adoption of agricultural innovations in developing countries: A survey. Econ Dev Cult Change 33(2):255. https://doi.org/10.1086/451461
- Fischer G, Wittich S, Malima G et al (2018) Gender and mechanization: Exploring the sustainability of mechanized forage chopping in Tanzania. J Rural Stud 64:112. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2018.09.012
- Fuglie K, Gautam M, Goyal A et al. (2019) Harvesting prosperity: technology and productivity growth in agriculture. World Bank, Washington. http://hdl.handle.net/10986/32350. Accessed 14 Oct 2022
- Giller KE, Witter E, Corbeels M et al (2009) Conservation agriculture and smallholder farming in Africa: the heretics' view. Field Crops Res 114(1):23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fcr.2009.06.017
- Gollin D, Lagakos D, Waugh ME (2014) Agricultural productivity differences across countries. Am Econ Rev 104(5):165. https:// doi.org/10.1257/aer.104.5.165
- Gollin D (2019) Farm size and productivity: lessons from recent literature. IFAD Research Series 34. International Fund for Agricultural Development, Rome. https://www.ifad.org/documents/ 38714170/40974017/Research+Series+34.pdf/64a10247-6fdde397-b75b-3d45767d956c. Accessed 14 Oct 2022
- Gulati A, Juneja R (2020) Farm mechanization in indian agriculture with focus on tractors. ZEF Discussion Papers on Development Policy 297. Center for Development Research (ZEF), Bonn. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3689250
- Haggblade S, Hazell P, Reardon T (2010) The rural non-farm economy: prospects for growth and poverty reduction. World Dev 38(10):1429. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2009.06.008
- Hamza MA, Anderson WK (2005) Soil compaction in cropping systems: a review of the nature, causes and possible solutions. Soil Tillage Res 82(2):121. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.still.2004.08.009
- Hayami Y, Ruttan VW (1970) Factor prices and technical change in agricultural development: The United States and Japan, 1880–1960. J Political Econ 78(5):1115. https://doi.org/10.1086/259694
- Heinimann A, Mertz O, Frolking S et al. (2017) A global view of shifting cultivation: recent, current, and future extent. PloS One 12(9)(e0184479). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0184479



- Herforth A, Bai Y, Venkat A et al. (2020). Cost and affordability of healthy diets across and within countries. FAO Agricultural Development Economics Technical Study No. 9. Food and Agriculture Organisation, Rome
- Herrero M, Thornton PK, Mason-D'Croz D et al (2020) Innovation can accelerate the transition towards a sustainable food system. Nature Food 1(5):266. https://doi.org/10.1038/s43016-020-0074-1
- Houssou N, Chapoto A (2014) The changing landscape of agriculture in Ghana: drivers of farm mechanization and its impacts on cropland expansion and intensification. Discussion Paper 1392. International Food Policy Research Institute, Washington, DC. http://ebrary.ifpri.org/cdm/ref/collection/p15738coll2/id/128706. Accessed 14 Oct 2022
- Houssou N, Diao X, Cossar F et al. (2013) Agricultural mechanization in Ghana: is specialization in agricultural mechanization a viable business model? Discussion Paper 1255. International Food Policy Research Institute, Washington, DC. http://cdm15 738.contentdm.oclc.org/utils/getfile/collection/p15738coll2/id/ 127474/filename/127685.pdf. Accessed 14 Oct 2022
- Hurt RD (1982) American farm tools: from hand power to steam power. Sunflower University Press, Manhattan
- Huss M, Brander M, Kassie M et al. (2021) Improved storage mitigates vulnerability to food-supply shocks in smallholder agriculture during the COVID-19 pandemic. Global Food Sec 28(100468). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gfs.2020.100468
- IFC (2019) The market opportunity for productive use leveraging solar energy (PULSE) in sub-Saharan Africa. International Finance Corporation, Washington, D.C. https://www.lightingglobal.org/ wp-content/uploads/2019/09/PULSE-Report.pdf. Accessed 14 Oct 2022
- ILO (2021) Child Labor: Global estimates 2020, trends and the road forward. International Labor Office and UNICEF, New York. https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed\_norm/---ipec/ documents/publication/wcms\_797515.pdf. Accessed 14 Oct 2022
- Iost Filho FH, Heldens WB, Kong Z et al (2020) Drones: innovative technology for use in precision pest management. J Econ Entomol 113(1):1. https://doi.org/10.1093/jee/toz268
- Jaleta M, Baudron F, Krivokapic-Skoko B et al (2019) Agricultural mechanization and reduced tillage: antagonism or synergy? Int J Agric Sustain 17(3):219. https://doi.org/10.1080/14735903.2019.1613742
- Jayne TS, Mather D, Mghenyi E (2010) Principal challenges confronting smallholder agriculture in sub-Saharan Africa. World Dev 38(10):1384. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2010.06.002
- Jayne TS, Muyanga M, Wineman A, Ghebru H, Stevens C, Stickler M, Nyange D (2019) Are medium-scale farms driving agricultural transformation in sub-Saharan Africa? Agric Econ 50:75–95. https://doi.org/10.1111/agec.12535
- Johnston D, Stevano S, Malapit HJ et al (2018) Time use as an explanation for the agri-nutrition disconnect: evidence from rural areas in low and middle-income countries. Food Pol 76:8. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.foodpol.2017.12.011
- Justice S, Biggs S (2020) The spread of smaller engines and markets in machinery services in rural areas of South Asia. J Rural Stud 73:10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2019.11.013
- Kahan D, Bymolt R, Zaal F (2018) Thinking outside the plot: insights on small-scale mechanisation from case studies in East Africa. J Dev Stud 54(11):1939. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220388.2017.1329525
- Kansanga M, Andersen P, Kpienbaareh D et al (2018a) Traditional agriculture in transition: examining the impacts of agricultural modernization on smallholder farming in Ghana under the new Green Revolution. Int J Sustain Dev & World Ecol 26(1):11. https://doi.org/10.1080/13504509.2018.1491429
- Kansanga M, Andersen P, Atuoye K et al (2018b) Contested commons: agricultural modernization, tenure ambiguities and intra-familial

land grabbing in Ghana. Land Use Policy 75:215. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.landusepol.2018.03.047

- Kansanga MM, Mkandawire P, Kuuire V et al (2019) Agricultural mechanization, environmental degradation and gendered livelihood implications in northern Ghana. Land Degrad Dev 31(11):1422. https://doi.org/10.1002/ldr.3490
- Keller T, Sandin M, Colombi T et al. (2019) Historical increase in agricultural machinery weights enhanced soil stress levels and adversely affected soil functioning. Soil Tillage Res 194(104293). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.still.2019.104293
- Kirui O (2019) The Agricultural mechanization in Africa: micro-level analysis of state drivers and effects. ZEF-Discussion Papers on Development Policy 272. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3368103
- Labrière N, Locatelli B, Laumonier Y et al (2015) Soil erosion in the humid tropics: a systematic quantitative review. Agric Ecosyst Environ 203:127. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2015.01.027
- Lawrence PR, Pearson RA (2002) Use of draught animal power on small mixed farms in Asia. Agric Syst 71(1–2):99. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0308-521X(01)00038-5
- Van Loon J, Woltering L, Krupnik TJ et al. (2020) Scaling agricultural mechanization services in smallholder farming systems: case studies from sub-Saharan Africa, South Asia, and Latin America. Agric Syst 180(102792). https://doi.org/10.1016/j. agsy.2020.102792
- Lowder SK, Sánchez MV, Bertini R (2019) Farms, family farms, farmland distribution and farm labor: what do we know today? FAO Agricultural Economics Working Paper 19-08. Food and Agriculture Organisation, Rome. https://www.fao.org/3/ca7036en/ca7036en.pdf. Accessed 14 Oct 2022
- Ma W, Renwick A, Grafton Q (2018) Farm machinery use, off-farm employment, and farm performance in China. Aust J Agric Res Econ 62:279. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8489.12249
- Malabo Montpellier Panel (2018) WATER-WISE smart irrigation strategies for Africa. Dakar, Senegal: International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI) and Malabo Montpellier Panel. https://ebrary.ifpri. org/utils/getfile/collection/p15738coll2/id/133019/filename/133232. pdf. Accessed 14 Oct 2022
- Mano Y, Takahashi K, Otsuka K (2020) Mechanization in land preparation and agricultural intensification: the case of rice farming in the Cote d'Ivoire. Agr Econ 51(6):899. https://doi.org/10.1111/agec.12599
- Martín-Retortillo M, Pinilla V, Velazco J et al (2019) The dynamics of Latin American agricultural production growth 1950–2008. J Lat Am Stud 51(3):573. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0022216X18001141
- Mazoyer, M, Roudart L (2006) A history of world agriculture: from the neolithic age to the current crisis. NYU Press, New York. https://nyupress.org/9781583671214/a-history-of-world-agric ulture/. Accessed 14 Oct 2022
- Meyer RL (2011) Subsidies as an instrument in agriculture finance: a review. World Bank, Washington, DC. http://hdl.handle.net/10986/12696. Accessed 14 Oct 2022
- Mrema G, Baker D, Kahan D (2008) Agricultural mechanization in sub-Saharan Africa: time for a new look. Agricultural Management, Marketing and Finance Occasional Paper 22. Rome, FAO. https://www.fao.org/3/i0219e/i0219e00.pdf. Accessed 14 Oct 2022
- Mrema GC, Kahan DG, Agyei-Holmes A (2020) Agricultural mechanization in Tanzania. In: An evolving paradigm of agricultural mechanization development: How much can Africa learn from Asia? International Food Policy Research Institute, Washington, DC, pp. 457-496. https://doi.org/10.2499/9780896293809\_14
- Nin-Pratt A, McBride L (2014) Agricultural intensification in Ghana: evaluating the optimist's case for a Green Revolution. Food Pol 48:153. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodpol.2014.05.004
- Njuki J, Waithanji E, Sakwa B et al (2014) A qualitative assessment of gender and irrigation technology in Kenya and Tanzania. Gend Technol Dev 18(3):303. https://doi.org/10.1177/0971852414544010



- Ogwuike P, Rodenburg J, Diagne A et al (2014) Weed management in upland rice in sub-Saharan Africa: impact on labor and crop productivity. Food Sec 6(3):327. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12571-014-0351-7
- Olmstead AL, Rhode PW (1995) Beyond the threshold: an analysis of the characteristics and behavior of early reaper adopters. J Econ Hist 55(1):27. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0022050700040560
- Panin A (1995) Empirical evidence of mechanization effects on smallholder crop production systems in Botswana. Agric Syst 47(2):199. https://doi.org/10.1016/0308-521X(94)P4411-T
- Parthasarathi T, Vanitha K, Mohandass S et al (2018) Evaluation of drip irrigation system for water productivity and yield of rice. Agron J 110(6):2378. https://doi.org/10.2134/agronj2018.01.0002
- Pingali P (2007) Agricultural mechanization: adoption patterns and economic impact. Handb Agric Econ 3:2779. https://doi.org/10. 1016/S1574-0072(06)03054-4
- Pingali P, Bigot Y, Binswanger HP (1987) Agricultural mechanization and the evolution of farming systems in Sub-Saharan Africa. World Bank, Washington, DC. https://documents1.worldbank. org/curated/en/487111468202161680/pdf/multi-page.pdf. Accessed 14 Oct 2022
- Rajkhowa P, Kubik Z (2021) Revisiting the relationship between farm mechanization and labour requirement in India. Indian Economic Review 56(2):487–513. https://doi.org/10.1007/s41775-021-00120-x
- Ruthenberg H (1980) Farming systems in the tropics. Oxford University Press, Oxford
- Ruttan VW (1977) Induced innovation and agricultural development. Food Pol 2(3):196. https://doi.org/10.1016/0306-9192(77)90080-X
- Ruttan VW, Hayami Y (1984) Toward a theory of induced institutional innovation. The Journal of Development Studies 20(4):203–223. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220388408421914
- Salvatierra-Rojas A, Nagle M, Gummert M et al (2017) Development of an inflatable solar dryer for improved postharvest handling of paddy rice in humid climates. Int J Agric Biol Eng 10:269. https://doi.org/10.3965/j.ijabe.20171003.2444
- Searchinger TD, Estes L, Thornton PK et al. (2015) High carbon and biodiversity costs from converting Africa's wet savannahs to cropland. Nat Clim Change 5(5):481. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate2584
- Sebastian K (Ed.) (2014) Atlas of African agriculture research and development: revealing agriculture's place in Africa. International Food Policy Research Institute, Washington, DC. https:// doi.org/10.2499/9780896298460
- Silva JV, Baudron F, Reidsma P et al (2019) Is labour a major determinant of yield gaps in sub-Saharan Africa? A study of cerealbased production systems in Southern Ethiopia. Agr Sys 174:39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agsy.2019.04.009
- Sims BG, Kienzle J (2006). Farm power and mechanization for small farms in sub-Saharan Africa. Agricultural and Food Engineering Technical Report. Food and Agriculture Organisation, Rome. https://www.fao.org/3/a0651e/a0651e.pdf. Accessed 14 Oct 2022
- Sims BG, Hilmi M, Kienzle J (2016) Agricultural mechanization: a key input for sub-Saharan Africa smallholders. Integrated Crop Management 23. Food and Agriculture Organisation, Rome. https://www.fao.org/3/i6044e/i6044e.pdf. Accessed 14 Oct 2022
- Sims BG, Kienzle J (2016) Making mechanization accessible to smallholder farmers in sub-Saharan Africa. Environments 3(2):11. https://doi.org/10.3390/environments3020011
- Singh G (2001) Relation between mechanization and agricultural productivity in various parts of India. AMA 32(2):68
- Ströh de Martínez C, Feddersen M, Speicher A (2016) Food security in sub-Saharan Africa: a fresh look on agricultural mechanisation. How adapted financial solutions can make a difference. Deutsches Institut für Entwicklungspolitik (DIE), Bonn. https:// www.idos-research.de/uploads/media/Study\_91.pdf. Accessed 14 Oct 2022
- Sunding D, Zilberman D (2001) The agricultural innovation process: research and technology adoption in a changing agricultural sector.

Handb Agric Econ 1:207. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1574-0072(01) 10007-1

- Takeshima H, Lawal (2020) Evolution of agricultural mechanization in Nigeria. In: An evolving paradigm of agricultural mechanization development: How much can Africa learn from Asia? International Food Policy Research Institute, Washington, DC, pp. 423-456. https://doi.org/10.2499/9780896293809\_13
- Takeshima H, Liu Y, Von Cuong N et al. (2020) Evolution of agricultural mechanization in Vietnam. In: An evolving paradigm of agricultural mechanization development: How much can Africa learn from Asia? International Food Policy Research Institute, Washington, DC, pp. 203-231. https://doi.org/10.2499/97808 96293809\_06
- Takeshima H, Vos R (2022) Agricultural mechanization and child labour in developing countries: background study. Food and Agriculture Organisation, Rome. https://doi.org/10.4060/cb8550en
- Takeshima H (2017) Overview of the evolution of agricultural mechanization in Nepal: a focus on tractors and combine harvesters. Discussion Paper 1662. International Food Policy Research Institute, Washington, DC
- Tetlay K, Byerlee D, Ahmad Z (1990) Role of tractors, tubewells and plant breeding in increasing cropping intensity in Pakistan's Punjab. Agric Econ 4(1):13. https://doi.org/10.1016/0169-5150(90)90017-U
- Theis S, Krupnik TJ, Sultana N et al. (2019) Gender and agricultural mechanization: a mixed-methods exploration of the impacts of multi-crop reaper-harvester service provision in Bangladesh. Discussion Paper 1837. International Food Policy Research Institute, Washington, DC. https://doi.org/10.2499/p15738coll2.133260
- Thierfelder C (2021) Animal traction-based maize–legume conservation agriculture. Africa RISING Technology Brief. IITA, Ibadan. https://cgspace.cgiar.org/handle/10568/115600. Accessed 14 Oct 2022
- Thoelen J, Daum T (2019) How to keep tractors running in Africa? Lessons for Knowledge and Skills Development from Zambia. PARI Policy Brief 13. Center for Development Research, Bonn. https:// research4agrinnovation.org/app/uploads/2019/03/pari-policybrief13. pdf. Accessed 14 Oct 2022
- Tschirley D, Reardon T, Dolislager M et al (2015) The rise of a middle class in East and Southern Africa: implications for food system transformation. J Int Dev 27(5):628. https://doi.org/10.1002/jid.3107
- Turvey CG (2017) Historical developments in agricultural finance and the genesis of America's farm credit system. Agric Finance Rev 77(1):4. https://doi.org/10.1108/AFR-09-2016-0076
- Van Eerdewijk A, Danielsen K (2015) Gender matters in farm power. KIT, Amsterdam. https://kit2018.wpenginepowered.com/wp-content/ uploads/2018/08/56fe4a6ced6cd\_Gender-Matters-in-Farm-Power. pdf. Accessed 14 Oct 2022
- Van Vliet N, Mertz O, Heinimann A et al (2012) Trends, drivers and impacts of changes in swidden cultivation in tropical forestagriculture frontiers: a global assessment. Glob Environ Change 22(2):418. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2011.10.009
- Verma SR (2006) Impact of agricultural mechanization on production, productivity, cropping intensity income generation and employment of labor. Status of farm mechanization in India. Punjab Agricultural University, Ludhiana
- Wada Y, van Beek LP, Bierkens MF (2012). Nonsustainable groundwater sustaining irrigation: A global assessment. Water Res Research, 48(6). https://doi.org/10.1029/2011WR010562
- Wang X, Yamauchi F, Huang J (2016) Rising wages, mechanization, and the substitution between capital and labor: evidence from small scale farm system in China. Agri Econ 47(3):309. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/agec.12231
- Webb P, Benton TG, Beddington J et al (2020) The urgency of food system transformation is now irrefutable. Nat Food 1(10):584. https://doi.org/10.1038/s43016-020-00161-0



- Win MT, Belton B, Zhang X (2020). Myanmar's rapid agricultural mechanization: demand and supply evidence. In: An evolving paradigm of agricultural mechanization development: How much can Africa learn from Asia? International Food Policy Research Institute, Washington, DC, pp.263-284. https://doi.org/10.2499/9780896293809\_08
- World Bank (2020) Poverty and shared prosperity 2020: reversals of fortune. World Bank, Washington, DC. https://www.world bank.org/en/publication/poverty-and-shared-prosperity-2020. Accessed 14 Oct 2022
- World Bank (2022) World Bank Open Data. World Bank, Washington, DC. https://data.worldbank.org/. Accessed 14 Oct 2022
- Yamauchi F (2016) Rising real wages, mechanization, and growing advantage of large farms: evidence from Indonesia. Food Pol 58:62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodpol.2015.11.004
- Yang J, Huang Z, Zhang X et al (2013) The rapid rise of cross-regional agricultural mechanization services in China. Am J Agric Econ 95(5):1245. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajae/aat027

- You L, Ringler C, Wood-Sichra U et al (2011) What is the irrigation potential for Africa? A combined biophysical and socioeconomic approach. Food Pol 36(6):770. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodpol.2011.09.001
- Zabel F, Delzeit R, Schneider JM et al (2019) Global impacts of future cropland expansion and intensification on agricultural markets and biodiversity. Nat Comm 10(1):1. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41467-019-10775-z
- Zhang X, Yang J, Thomas R (2017) Mechanization outsourcing clusters and division of labor in Chinese agriculture. China Econ Rev 43:184. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chieco.2017.01.012
- Zhang T, Zou Y, Kisekka I et al. (2021) Comparison of different irrigation methods to synergistically improve maize's yield, water productivity and economic benefits in an arid irrigation area. Agric Water Manag 243(106497). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agwat.2020.106497

**Publisher's note** Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.